МІНІСТЕРСТВО ОСВІТИ І НАУКИ УКРАЇНИ КИЇВСЬКИЙ НАЦІОНАЛЬНИЙ ЛІНГВІСТИЧНИЙ УНІВЕРСИТЕТ

Кафедра германскої і фіно-угорської філології імені професора Г.Г. Почепцова

Кваліфікаційна робота магістра з лінгвістики

на тему: «Емотивні мовні засоби як ефективне знаряддя сучасного англомовного рекламного дискурсу»

Допущено до захисту	студента групи МЛа 53-18		
«» року	факультету <u>германської філології</u>		
	освітньо-професійної програми <u>Сучасні</u> філологічні студії (англійська мова і друга		
	перекладознавство		
	(назва)		
	за спеціальністю <u>035 Філологія</u>		
	(код, назва)		
	<u>Ірклієнко Ірини Миколаївни</u>		
	(ПІБ студента)		
В. о. завідувача кафедри	Науковий керівник:		
германскої і фіно-угорської	кандидат філологічних наук, доцент		
філології імені професора Г.Г.	Пініч Ірина Петрівна		
Почепцова	(науковий ступінь, вчене звання, ПІБ)		
кандидат філологічних наук,			
доцент Алексієвець Оксана	Національна шкала		
Миколаївна	Кількість балів		
	Оцінка ЄКТС		
(niònuc) (TIIF)			

MINISTRY OF EDUCATION AND SCIENCE OF UKRAINE KYIV NATIONAL LINGUISTIC UNIVERSITY

Professor G.G.Pocheptsov Chair of Germanic and Finno-Ugrian Philology

Master's Qualification Paper

EMOTIVE LANGUAGE AS AN EFFECTIVE TOOL OF MODERN ENGLISH ADVERTISING DISCOURSE

IRKLIIENKO IRYNA

Group LLe 53-18

Department of Germanic Philology

Research Adviser

Assoc. Prof.

PINICH IRYNA

PhD (Linguistics)

CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION	4
CHAPTER ONE. THE STUDY OF EMOTIVE LANGUAGE	
IN MODERN LINGUISTICS.	
1.1 Language as a fundamental unit of emotion	7
1.2 The categories of emotivity and emotionality	17
1.3 Major means of emotion verbalization	32
Conclusions to Chapter One	40
CHAPTER TWO. EMOTIONS AND EMOTION EVOKING	
IN MODERN ENGLISH ADVERTISING DISCOURSE.	
2.1 The social discourse of advertisement as a powerful vehicle of pipelining emotions.	42
2.2 The technique of emotional advertising in Modern English media	
discourse	52
2.3 Pragmatic effects of emotional and emotive brand cultivation	64
Conclusions to Chapter Two	74
GENERAL CONCLUSIONS	76
РЕЗЮМЕ	79
LIST OF REFERENCE MATERIALS	81
LIST OF ILLUSTRATION MATERIALS	101

INTRODUCTION

This paper focuses on the use and the pragmatic effect of emotive language in Modern English advertising discourse. Social English advertisement serves the material of the study in order to outline the communicative functions of emotive language and track the effect achieved.

Emotions as an integral part of human life have attracted the attention of prominent scientists from ancient times. Even in the writings of the ancient philosopher Aristotle emotions were regarded as a special kind of knowledge. Many fundamental works of famous psychologists (Izard 2006; Ilyin 2001; Miall 1989; Tapio 1992), sociologists (Lyon 1996) and linguists (Bolotov 1986; Shakhovskiy 1987; Burke 2002; Bytsenko and Shevchenko 2003: 48-50; Gibbs 2000; Jacobsen 1979; Kövecses 2000) are devoted to the study of emotions, providing explanations for this concept, developing various classifications of emotions, defining basic emotions, establishing their functions, etc.

In its turn linguistic attention turned to the questions of the realization of emotions in the text and discourse. The ability of texts to excite, influence, and compel readers to emotional experience has always been attributed to the immanent language property of culture and emotion transmission (Wierzbicka 1999; Bolotov 1986; Kunin 1986; Romanova 2001; Teliya 1981; Shakhovskiy 1987 and others).

The **subject** of the paper is the emotive language in Modern English advertising discourse.

The **object** is the emotive language techniques used to trigger proper audience's emotional response in Modern English Advertising discourse.

The **topicality** of the investigation lies in the interest of contemporary studies in the capacity of emotional language to convey emotional messages and trigger relevant emotions by the language means used in social advertisement. Although emotive language has been rather profoundly studied by both native and foreign scholars, it appears to be reasonable to give its account in the contemporary English advertising discourse.

Methods of research used in the paper include: a contextual analysis is used to analyze the multi-media texts of advertisement that helps to characterize its qualities, a pragmatic analysis is used to extract the needed information from the commercials to figure out the actual meaning of the utterance, a discourse analysis is used to examine how language functions and how meaning is created in different contexts and an intent analysis is used to research web links of the social advertisement.

The novelty of the paper consists in the distinction of seven emotion-based advertising techniques: happiness and joy, sadness, fear, anger and disgust, guilt, interest, and shame; discerned on the basis of the perlocutionary effect achieved through the use of relevant emotive language.

The **aim** of the work is to reveal the main features and techniques of emotional language use in modern English social advertisement.

To achieve the aim put forward in the research it is necessary to solve the following **tasks:**

- > to describe language as a fundamental unit of emotion;
- > to categorize between emotivity and emotionality;
- ➤ to define and characterize the significant features of the English social advertising discourse;
- > to determine the features and techniques of emotional advertising.
- ➤ to thoroughly analyze the pragmatic effect of emotional and emotive brand cultivation on the target audience.

Structurally, the master thesis consists of Introduction, two Chapters with six Subsections, General Conclusions, Resume, List of References and List of Illustration Material.

The **Introduction** of the paper presents the object and the subject of the investigation, underlines the novelty of the received results, sets the main aim and the tasks by which it is achieved, provides the methods of research used in the paper, and discusses the content of each chapter separately.

Chapter One – "The study of emotive language in modern linguistics" – deals with the investigations into the concept of emotive language from the standpoint of linguistics. Furthermore, the categories of emotivity and emotionality are distinguished and major means of emotion verbalization are outlined.

The second Chapter "Emotions and emotion evoking in modern media discourse" aims at analyzing the ways the emotive language is manifested in social advertisement discourse and the communicative effect produced on the consumer.

General Conclusions summarize the results of the study and estimate their validity and significance in the pragmatic analysis of emotional advertising.

CHAPTER ONE. THE STUDY OF EMOTIVE LANGUAGE IN MODERN LINGUISTICS.

1.1 Language as a fundamental unit of emotion.

Emotions are included in the life of every person. In speech, a person is constantly faced with emotions. Thanks to emotions, our speech is emotionally colored with the content of a sensual background and it is easy for the listener to perceive the speaker.

Emotions are the object of study of such related sciences, the focus of which is the mental and social activity of people, namely linguistics (Bolotov 1986; Shakhovskiy 1987; Burke 2002; Bytsenko and Shevchenko 2003: p. 48-50; Gibbs 2000; Jacobsen 1979; Kövecses 2000), psychology (Izard 2006; Ilyin 2001; Miall 1989; Tapio 1992) sociology (Lyon 1996), medicine, physiology (Lee, Beattie 2000; Williams, Bendelow 1996) etc.

Foreign and domestic psychologists have made a great contribution to the development of theoretical and methodological framework for the study of emotions. The essence of emotions was revealed, classification of basic emotions was developed, the characteristics of emotional phenomena was provided.

Psychologically, emotions are understood as a complex phenomenon (Williams, Bendelow 1996: 36) for the designation of a group of mental processes: emotional reactions (behavior), emotional states (experiences), emotional situations (emotional impact) (Maslova 1995: 188; Nushikyan 1986: 30), which are caused by social or psychological events (Kövecses, Palmer, Dirven 2002: 150) and arise as a result of the integration of cognitive and physiological processes that affect human behavior (Bytsenko, Shevchenko 2003: 48).

Variy mentions that there are many classifications of emotions: a classification on the temporal basis, by T. Brown, on the basis of the emergence of emotions, by I. Kant, on the basis of emergence and reproduction developed by M. Spencer and many others (Variy 2007: 445).

The psychologist and emotion researcher Izard singled out fundamental emotions and complex emotional states, which are a certain combination of fundamental emotions. Fundamental emotions include interest, joy, surprise, sadness, anger, disgust, contempt, fear, shame, embarrassment (shyness), and guilt (Izard 2006).

Based on the semantic principle of the classification of emotions, O.N. Luk divides emotions into positive (bliss, joy and delight, etc., all in all 44 emotions) negative (sadness, despair, rage, etc., all in all 42 emotions) and emotionally neutral states (indifference, state of quiet contemplation, etc., total 4 emotions) (Luk 1972: 12-13).

But this classification is considered inaccurate because, for example, the scientist refers to the feelings of compassion, pity, and remorse as negative emotions, while the feelings of gloating and complacency are referred to as positive. From the point of view of its semantics, the feeling of gloat is considered negative, and from the hedonistic point of view it is positive, that is, the one that is satisfying.

After analyzing 26 emotions, Ilyin grouped them into 5 classes according to their functional characteristics:

- 1) emotions of expectation (excitement, anxiety, fear, despair);
- 2) emotions of pleasure and joy;
- 3) emotions of frustration (insult, disappointment, annoyance, anger, insanity, sadness, boredom, nostalgia, grief);
 - 4) communicative emotions (fun, embarrassment, shame, guilt, disgust);
- 5) intellectual "emotions" or affective-cognitive complexes (wonder, interest, sense of humor, emotion of guess, doubt) (Ilyin 2001).

Thus, the development of classifications of emotions based on various factors, is widely represented in psychology and is of great importance for the study of emotions in linguistics, because it is the classification of emotions in psychology which is the starting point in the study of linguistics of emotions.

Zolotykh mentions that "emotions motivate people, they mobilize energy, and this energy in some cases is perceived by the subject as a tendency to perform an action". (Zolotykh 2017: 8). Emotions direct the mental and physical activity of the individual, directs it in a certain direction. Emotions regulate, or rather, filter out our perceptions.

As noted above, emotions can be both positive and negative, as well as expressing emotional indifference. These various types of emotional reaction can be represented in various facial expressions and gestures.

There are situations when we need to describe our or someone else's emotional state or describe the ways in which the emotions were expressed. Description and expression of emotions are two different things. According to Zolotykh "the description of emotions is achieved through lexical units and the expression of emotions is a means of expressing the emotions themselves" (Zolotykh 2017: 9). The description and expression of emotions may overlap.

Urazaeva mentions that "the mechanisms of the linguistic expression of the speaker's emotions and the linguistic designation, the interpretation of emotions as the objective significance of the speaker and the listener are fundamentally different. We can talk about the language of describing emotions and the language of expressing emotions" (Urazaeva 2002: 422).

The most powerful way of expressing ideas and emotions is language. Lexicalized emotions sometimes do not correspond to what the speaker really experiences. Therefore, in order to recognize any emotion in a correct way, it is necessary to pay attention not only to linguistic, but also to non-linguistic means of expressing it.

In the foreign languages, in English in particular, emotions are expressed differently depending on the situation and the speaker himself. In the colloquial speech, people often use the same word to denote different experiences, so that their

actual nature becomes clear only from the context. At the same time, the same emotion can be worded differently.

The linguistic study of emotions involves the analysis of emotions at different levels – on the phonetic, lexical, on phraseological and syntactic. The linguistics of emotions has been the subject of attention of many scholars.

According to Bally, "expression of emotions is a central function of language" (Bally 1961: 24). The linguistic aspect of the study of emotions becomes important and relevant because it is possible to clarify certain provisions of the theory of emotionality. In linguistics, the developer of the theory of emotion is V.I. Shakhovskiy, who introduced its basic provisions, developed a terminological apparatus, outlined the problems of speech communication in different types of discourse. (Shakhovskiy 1987).

According to Ad Foolen, the relevance of emotion for language and linguistics is considered from three perspectives:

- a) the conceptualization of emotions;
- b) the expression of emotions;
- c) the grounding of language. (Foolen 2012: 349).

As to the conceptualization perspective, the emotional lexicon is discussed. Emotion nomination vocabulary includes not only nouns, verbs, adjectives, interjections, as well as adverbs and modal particles, but also prepositions (to long for, hate against).

From the perspective of the expression of emotions, it is stated that the expression of emotions takes place on all linguistic levels: phonological, morphological, lexical, syntactic, and on the level of figurative language use (metaphor and metonymy). Foolen explains that "grounding of language in emotion means that emotion is one of the preconditions for the functioning of language (emotion is part of the embodied grounding) and for its coming into existence, both ontogenetically and phylogenetically" (Foolen 2012: 349).

We can talk about emotions and express them using nouns like love, anger, surprise, what is more, there are other parts of speech which also contain words that convey emotions, for instance verbs (to love, hate, to enjoy, to hope) and adjectives (disanointed, stressed out, depressed, happy). Prepositions are also discussed, as they play a role in the relational (love for something) aspects of the conceptualization of emotions.

Wierzbicka et al. (1999) have shown that languages differ in the way they shape the feeling rules of the community. For instance, Ukrainian language distinguishes between «ревнощі» and «заздрість» while in the English language "jealousy" can have both these meanings (Wierzbicka 1999).

According to Lindquist who calls this view a "constructivist view on emotion", such differences between languages have an effect on the perception of the speakers and the way they experience their own and other's feelings (Lindquist 2009).

Bloem mentions that the conceptualization of emotions can develop through time since a lot of linguists have studied different degrees of emotivity (Bloem 2012). Tissari, for instance, looked at word pairs like happiness-sadness, love-hate, hopefear, pride-shame, calmness-anxiety, and excitement-respect in Early Modern and Present-Day English (Tissari 2010).

Foolen states that "such researches are a prerequisite for interdisciplinary studies on the impact of language on the (varied) experience of feelings" (Foolen 2012: 351).

Foolen also explains that "emotions are processes, they begin, get stronger and fade away and this aspect is conceptualized in a natural way with verbs, being "process words" (Foolen 2012: 352) and in emotion verbs, four different stages can be described:

- causes (lights in "That lights infuriate me");
- targets (noise in "I hate that noise");

- experiencers (the person who experiences the emotion, I in "I hate that noise")
 - effects (trembling in "She trembled with fear").

There is a whole line of research on mental verbs where the main question is how we can explain the variable distribution of the semantic roles of cause, targets, experiencer, and effect over the syntactic subject, object, and predicate (Croft 1993).

According to Foolen, West-Germanic languages have at least 3 classes of mental verbs:

- 1. Causative verbs: That noise frightens me, where the Cause is subject and the Experiencer is direct object; a passive paraphrase is possible (I am frightened by that noise);
- 2. Unaccusative verbs, which don't allow a causative paraphrase or a passive. The Experiencer object has the syntactic role of indirect object.
- **3.** Experiencer-subject verbs: I like/hate that sound (Foolen 2012: 352).

Foolen claims that "noun phrases that refer to emotions often occur together with a preposition: preposition + emotion (in love) or emotion + preposition (love for something)". Besides nouns, verbs, and prepositions, languages use adverbs (unfortunately, terribly) and adjectives (thrilled, happy, disappointed, sad) in the lexicalization of emotions (Foolen 2012: 353).

Talking about the expression of emotions, in linguistics, expressive linguistic forms have been studied less intensively than the emotional vocabulary. However, when we try to discover the expressive forms in the language structure, it can be said that expressive linguistic forms can be found at all language levels: prosody and expressive morphology. Jing-Schmidt says that "interjections like wow, and intensifiers like terribly, horribly, etc. often have an emotive effect" (Jing-Schmidt 2007: 423). What is more, there is connotation on the lexical level: a word with a special connotation which arouses a special feeling, such words as cancer or death. In addition, if we take euphemisms, for instance, in this case the referential meaning

should be saved and we should get rid of the negative feelings, for instance "Afro-American". Also, a lot of constructions have an expressive meaning, like "he was a lion in the battle".

Talking about language and emotion in the perspective of grounded cognition, it should be mentioned that "embodied cognition" or "grounded cognition" is one of the trends in the development of modern cognitive science. According to Falikman, it is represented by a whole range of new ideas and approaches to the study of cognition, emphasizing the role of body organization and the experience of the interaction of an organism with the environment in the functioning of various cognitive processes (Falikman 2012: 35). Along with "distributed cognition", "emotional cognition" and "situated cognition", this direction determines the face of modern cognitive science (and cognitive psychology, in particular), which has already gone quite far from metaphors and understanding of cognitive processes as purely computational.

Barsalou points out that "cognitive processing of conceptual knowledge does not take place in a separate conceptual part of the brain, dealing with 'abstract knowledge'. Neuro-imaging researches show that when people think about animals or plants their visual areas become active, and when they think about objects, motor areas become active, because people would want to utilize a ball or a fork or any other object in an activity. Similarly, when people process foods conceptually, gustatory areas become active" (Barsalou 2008: 627).

What is more, embodied grounding also takes place when words with emotional meaning are used. Various psycholinguistic researches showed that processing emotion words differs from processing 'neutral' words (Scott 2009).

According to Foolen, "emotion-laden words activate the limbic system, the complex of emotional centers in the brain, in particular in the right hemisphere, which is strong in processing prosody, gesture, and emotion words (words with a connotation)" (Foolen 2012: 354).

Landis conducted several experiments with such words (rage, weep, kill, nude, pain, dead, love, rape, hate, slap, stab, fear) versus non-emotional words (core, half, time, view, fact, main, pile, unit, span, dual, gist, form) (Landis 2006: 826). According to Landis, when presented in the left visual field, and thus processed in the right hemisphere, there was an advantage for emotion-laden words: they were recognized more quickly than non-emotional words (Landis 2006: 827). This shows that the right hemisphere plays a role in the processing of emotional words. It allowed to make the conclusion that the connection between the emotional part of the brain the connotation of the word speeds up the processing.

In addition, emotions gradually receive its proper place in research on linguistic meaning. The way emotions are transferred in language is at least threefold. According to Ad Foolen "emotions are (a) conceptualized in languages by a variety of word forms, with "literal" and figurative meaning, (b) can be expressed in a more direct way by prosody, morphology, syntactic constructions and by the use of figurative speech, and (c) are foundational for processing language and its ontogenetic and phylogenetic genesis and development" (Foolen 2012: 363).

What is more, if we speak about cognitive linguistics, it is well-known that language and cognition interact and according to Damasio "cognition, in its turn, interacts with emotion" (Damasio 1994). So, the cognition is connected to both emotion and language, then the relationships between language and emotions must be established as well.

According to Foolen, there are 4 possible ways we can understand the relations between language and emotions:

1. There is no direct connection between language and emotion: cognition stands as an intermediate between them (emotion is conceptualized in cognition and cognition is reflected in language, for example in the lexical differentiation between emotions);

- 2. Language has a direct connection to emotion (emotion can be expressed in a direct way in verbal utterances);
- 3. Language has both a direct and an indirect link to emotion (language reflects conceptualization of emotion and expresses emotion)'
- 4. The relation between language and emotion varies, depending on the types of emotion. For example: A belief-dependent emotion like surprise is typically expressed in language, whereas anger or fear is only conceptualized in language but expressed in non-verbal ways (Foolen 2012: 350).

In one of his works Foolen suggests that the 3rd option is a correct one: "people have the ability to conceptualize emotions, not only their own, but also those of others, and in this respect, cognition serves as intermediate between language and emotion" (Foolen 1997: 22).

What is more, an individual can also express their emotions using language directly, utilizing emotive language. For instance, a listener can become aware of the emotions of the other if the speaker simply says "I think this meat is disgusting" or, as an option, the speaker may express the same emotion by uttering "faugh". Foolen states that "these two different ways of communicating the same feeling differ semiotically in a fundamental way: the first one is symbolic, using words with relatively context-independent meaning (the indexicals I and that need of course context to be interpreted), and the second is a 'symptom', a reflex, showing that the speaker in the here-and-now has a specific emotion (disgust)" (Foolen 2012: 350).

And according to Michael Bamberg, the relationship between language and emotions can be viewed from only 2 angles (Bamberg 1997: 309). He mentions that "language, in a broad sense, can be viewed as being performed "*emotive*" and from this point of view, it is assumed that people, at least on occasions, "*have*" emotions, and that "being emotional" gains its own agency, impacting in a variety of ways on the communicative situation" (ibid.). This can take place extralinguistically, expressed

by body postures or facial expressions, in terms of suprasegmentational and prosodic features, and in terms of linguistic (lexical and syntactic) forms.

The other point of view offered by Michael Babmerg deals with the relationship between language and emotion from a completely different perspective. It is assumed that "language in a way refers to, and therefore "reflects" objects in the world, among them the emotions: Languages have emotion terms, and people across the world engage in talk about the emotions" (Bamberg 1997: 309).

From this perspective, it remains uncertain whether emotions are "real" objects in the world, such as behavior, or they are "internal" psychological states or processes. Bamberg mentions that "this view perceives different language-emotional relations and language is a means of understanding emotions, and as such can be used as a starting point for exploring the world of emotions in different languages" (Bamberg 1997: 309).

1.2 The categories of emotivity and emotionality.

Today, in linguistics, there are two terms to convey feelings and emotions – "emotionality" and "emotivity." But despite the fact, that the distinction between these two terms occupies one of the central places in modern linguistics, so far the interrelation between them has not been established. In the works of one group of scientists the terms of "emotionality" and "emotivity" are considered to be interchangeable (Marochkin 1995: 69), while others oppose them (Larina 2003; Shakhovskiy 1987: 23-24; Shakhovskiy 1995: 13). The reason for this is that emotions are at the core of emotionality and emotivity.

The emotional category can be viewed in a broad and narrow interpretation. In the broad sense, emotion is understood as the totality of the spheres of the subject's feelings and emotions, or as intensity (Birenbaum 1977: 3).

In the narrow sense, emotionality is interpreted as the feeling of the speaker, reflected and fixed in the semantics of the word, its relation to the object of speech (Kurlova 1996:137). It should be noted that according to Kurlova, together with the term "emotionality", the term "emotivity" is used synonymously (Kurlova 1996: 138).

However, some scholars distinguish between these terms. According to Teliya, the category of emotivity is psychological because it is related to the emotional sphere of the psyche and correlates with certain types of emotions, which we define in the range of approving or disapproving reactions to what is indicated (Teliya 1981: 129)

Kunin states that "emotivity is emotionality in the linguistic reflection, the expression of feelings, moods, experiences of a person by linguistic means" (Kunin 1986:153).

Maslova distinguishes between the concept of emotionality and emotivity. By emotionality, the researcher understands "the psychological characteristic of a person, the state and level of development of their emotional sphere. Emotivity, however, is a linguistic characteristic of a word, a sentence that is capable of producing an

emotional effect, evoking corresponding emotions in the linguistic personality" (Maslova 2005, 227).

Filimonova determines that "the category of emotivity is extensive, because of the expression of emotions at different levels of the language system – phonological, morphological, lexical and at the level of words and sentences" (Filimonova 2001: 7).

According to Malynenko, in linguistics there are also different interpretations of the term "emotivity" (Malynenko 2014:187). In general, the category under scrutiny is related to the emotional vocabulary and is identified with the connotation as a whole or with any connotation component – emotionality (emotional component) and evaluation. As we can see, the category of emotivity encompasses all linguistic means of displaying emotions and emotional characteristics of the linguistic personality (its emotional state and relation to the objective world) and enables the existence of emotional communication (Shakhovskiy 1987). Shakhovskiy defines the linguistic category of emotivity as the immanent property of language to express psychological (emotional) states and experiences of a person through certain units of language and speech – emotives (Shakhovskiy 1987).

Thus, the categories of "emotionality and "emotivity" are closely interrelated, and are distinguished only by their scope – psychological or linguistic.

At this stage of development of linguistic thought in emotionology, a set of theoretical approaches has been developed. The study of emotions in language is complicated by a large number of psychologists' positions on the theory of emotions, their classification, the definition of the number of basic emotions, as well as the complexity of the lexicalization of emotions. According to the observations of Dodonov, "in the colloquial practice, we often use the same word to refer to different experiences, so their true character becomes clear only from the context. At the same time, the same emotion can be nominated by different words" (Dodonov 1975, 25).

Traditional in domestic emotiology is the approach of V.I. Shakhovsky, who regards emotionality as a prelinguistic, psychological category, and emotivity as a

linguistic category (Shakhovskiy 1983: 3-4; Arutyunova 1981: 9-11; Shakhovskiy 1987: 23-26; Shakhovskiy 1995: 13). Emotionality in its interpretation is a person's sensitivity to emotional situations and their emotional response to them, whereas emotivity is a characteristic of language to express emotionality as a mental state by language means, to reflect in the semantics of linguistic units emotional expressions. It is also emphasized that emotion as an important element of language pragmatics embodies the function of influence and acts as a stimulus for the emotionality of the speaker.

As a result, emotionality was considered as one of the properties of the artistic text (Bolotov 1986: 11; Hamziuk 1999: 113; Hlado 1998: 144; Hlado 1999: 104-105; Hlado 2000: 2,5,24; Levina 1999: 6-7; Maslova 1995: 185-187), which is created through emotional linguistic means and information that is able to elicit a specific emotional response from the addressee.

However, along with this, V.I. Shakhovsky (Shakhovskiy 2002: 5) recognizes emotional and emotive competence, where the emotional competence of the linguistic personality is acquired through life experience and in real communication, and the emotive competence is acquitted through educational and fictional communication. The differentiation between emotional and emotive competence is not accidental, since in 1929 a distinction was made between emotional and emotive languages, that is, between the speaker's expression of his emotions and his efforts to cause a certain emotional state in the recipient (Danes 1987: 175).

In addition, the researches H. Arndt and R. Janney distinguish emotional and emotive functions of communication (Arndt, Janney 1992: 26-27). They mention that the difference between these types of communication is that the emotional communication has absorbed more of the psychic traits and is explained by the biological mechanisms that control the person at a subconscious level in emotionally intense situations.

Emotive communication is associated with the fact that, unlike animals,

humans produce complex, non-instinctive forms of emotional speech. When communicating in different social situations, speakers use emotional signals to avoid conflict and be tactful. The existence of emotional and emotive competence suggests that emotionality and emotivity are regarded as different concepts of the linguistic system, the distinction of which is closely linked to the uncontrolled or controlled expression of emotions in the speech process (Larina 2003: 228).

Emotional communication brings to the fore the expression of emotional states of the interlocutors. On the contrary, in emotive communication a certain emotional state of the listeners is caused due to the language means. Accordingly, the notions of emotionality and emotivity are considered in the plane of speech.

According to Gnezdilova, emotionality is a spontaneous, unpredictable property of speech; it reflects the emotional state of the speakers at the moment of communication. Emotivity, on the contrary, is a predictable, conscious property of speech, which results from the use of such linguistic means that purposefully make speech emotional and expressive and lead to a deliberately created emotional effect of communication (Gnezdilova 2007:19).

Emotional and emotive discourses differ in a number of parameters, which include: the intentionality of the speakers, in particular, emotional and emotive, which means the emergence of spontaneous and programmed emotions of the listener (Shakhovskiy, Zhura 2002: 48), the main purpose and character of the goals, time regulation, form, situational conditioning and informational significance of speech.

Gnezdilova mentions that emotional discourse can be defined as contradictory. It means that this discourse is both a process of experiencing one or another emotional state and its result: the speaker expresses his current state and, at the same time, with the help of this expression achieves an "emotional discharge" – release from emotions. (Gnezdilova 2007: 20).

Emotional discourse is related to the loss of emotional balance on the side of the speaker or interlocutor. Emotional balance should be understood as the state of the speaker, which does not cause discomfort, which is harmonious and holds different emotions in balance. When the emotional balance is disturbed due to certain circumstances, there is a loss of emotional balance, which can manifest in screaming, tears, indignation, joy etc. Accordingly, the causes of emotional discourse are:

- 1) The emotional tension of the interlocutors, which is characterized by an increased level of excitation and is accompanied by the emotional worry of the communicants;
- 2) Sudden emotional outburst intense, prolonged disturbance (Ilyin 2001: 17) which affects the emotional state of the speakers, accompanied by a narrowing consciousness and decreasing self-control;
- 3) Unexpected emotional reaction of the speaker;
- 4) The unexpectedness of news or conversation, that is, the presentation of such information that leads to the loss of emotional balance of speakers;
 - 5) Time deficit.

The necessity to preserve the "face" of the speaker is of particular importance among these reasons. The notion of "face" is central to the theory of politeness developed by P. Braun and S. Levinson, which has many followers. When in emotional discourse the speaker feels his right for positive image is ignored or questioned, they try to protect their "face" (Braun, Levinson 1978).

Accidental, deliberate, or even fictitious threat to the "face" (Face Threatening Acts) is the basis of many interpersonal conflicts (Arndt, Janney 1992: 28). In other words, the participants of emotional communication actualize their communicative rights in seizing initiative in conversation, which is the reason for the speaker's urgent desire to gain the upper hand over the opponent. As a result, the ego-conflict develops, in which, on the one hand, the personal "I" forces to defend its position only because someone else adheres to the opposite thought (Fahnestock, Secor 1982: 7), and on another hand, victory or defeat is a reflection of the interlocutors' prestige and competence (Gamble, Gamble 1987: 183).

The speech form of emotional discourse is mainly a dialogue as the interaction of two or more speakers, between whom not only the propositional-meaningful information is exchanged at the communicative level, but also the emotional socially meaningful information at the metacommunicative level, on which certain relationships are formed between the interlocutors. (Buzarov 2002: 149; Honcharova 2002: 49; Duduchava 1966: 5; Kristal 1980: 157). The interactive nature of emotional discourse indicates its situational dependence, as it is created in a particular communication situation. It also indicates its dynamism, which could be traced through rapid development of conversation, the course of which is almost impossible to predict.

Emotive discourse, unlike emotional one, relies on socially conditioned, conscious, controlled and positively colored emotions. It is formal because it reflects a standard that is valued by a society and is seen as a combination of rhetorical, psychodidactic and logical-sequential norms of speech, based on the planned expression of emotions and the creation of the desired mood for the speaker in the audience.

The rhetorical features are determined by the fact that the emotive discourse is represented by the speeches organized according to all the rules of eloquence, prepared in advance, well thought out in terms of content, logically constructed and effectively presented, that is, so as to have the greatest possible influence on the mental and emotional sphere of the listeners.

It is well known (Achmanova, Mikael'an 1972: 86) that most speeches are always emotional, no matter what piece of information is given. First, affective language has an influential power (Hayakawa 1973: 82), second, emotionality is an important measure of an audience response to a speech. Third, emotional material, that is, transmitted through emotional thinking, is better reproduced than neutral. Passionate speeches are more effective and, as a consequence, more informative than dispassionate speeches, since such speeches are presented more emphatically and would be remembered better (Ellingsworth, Clevenger 1967: 166-169; Miall 1989:

190). Fourth, persuasion through emotion, not argumentation, is the foreground in such speeches, that is, a deliberate appeal to the senses of the addressee is conducted. (Belova 1997: 62-62, Skuratovska 2002: 8-9).

The authors of such discourses seek to actualize in the mind of the listener the system of such extralinguistic relations that will not leave them indifferent, will elicit emotions, attract attention and generate interest to the speech. Therefore, the main purpose of emotional discourse is to communicate socially meaningful information to create a benevolent attitude to the object of information, to create a positive feedback from listeners (Andrianovna 1991; Wezhbitska 1978; Devkin 1981; Kupryashkina 1991).

According to Gnezdilova, emotional discourse has a monologic form of presentation, not designed for the direct verbal response of the addressee and is considered as a long-lasting form of influence in communication (Gnezdilova 2007: 34).

Emotive discourse arises in the context of a solemn event – birthday, christening, engagement, wedding, retirement, promotion, graduation, funeral, memorial service etc. Emotive discourse is a stereotypical ritualized communication at the metacommunicative level because it aims at strengthening social communication, creating an atmosphere of trust between communicants and forming a psychological unison (Gnezdilova 2007: 35).

Emotional and emotive discourses are distinguished by a number of criteria (see Table 1.1 after Gnezdilova 2007) as those which represent different types of speech activity in emotional situations.

Table 1.1 Differential features of emotional and emotive discourses

Differentiation criteria	Type of discourse		
Differentiation criteria	Emotional discourse	Emotive discourse	
the degree of readiness	spontaneous, without prior organizational preparation	prepared in advance, logical and consistent in presentation	

the controllability of emotional manifestation	poorly controlled and uncontrolled	Controlled
the awareness of emotional manifestation	Unconscious	Conscious
the motivation	physiologically conditioned	socially conditioned
the tone of communication	negatively / positively colored	positively colored
the form of	mainly in the form of	in the form of a
communication	dialogue	monologue
situational conditioning	situationally dependent	situationally determined
the nature of the goals	of a private nature	of a public nature
the informational	at the communicative-	at the socio-
significance of speech	propositional level	metacommunicative level
the type of interpersonal	Informal	formal, reflects a standard
relationships	IIIIOIIIIai	that is valued by society

Emotional and emotive discourses are different types of speech activity that have different extralingual conditioning. If emotional discourse is a spontaneous reaction to emotions, circumstances, situations, etc., then emotive discourse is a preplanned stimulus because it is designed to have a purposeful emotional impact on the listener.

What is more, reflection and perception of the world by a person is impossible without the special means of emotionality and emotivity (Gnezdilova 2007: 36). Expressiveness in emotional and emotive discourses is achieved primarily through the use of stylistically colored lexico-semantic means of communication.

Emotional discourse is characterized by an informal style of communication reflected in its vocabulary. In the emotional discourse, expressiveness is created by the use of informal, stylistically marked vocabulary, represented by open class words and close class words notional and functional units (Gnezdilova 2007: 56). The criterion of openness-closeness can be understood as the presence or absence of a denotative component. Full-fledged emotional-evaluative units have a denotative and connotative meanings, but the latter prevails, conveying the speaker's emotional

attitude to the signified and naming the emotion. According to Gnezdilova, full-fledged emotional-evaluative lexical units include:

- lexical units with positive semantics like *beautiful*, *fantastic*, *sweet*;
- lexical units with negative semantics such as obscene, abusive, vulgar –
 fool, cursed, trash;
- diminutive vocabulary baby, honey, darling;
- slang, jargon such as *sap*, *wack*;
- word derivatives with subjective affixes *girlie*, *mondayish*;
- emotional vocabulary formed by word formation *warm-hearted*;
- vocabulary which expresses the speaker's emotional attitude to the presented information or to the addressee – to hurt, to irritate, to fascinate, to adore;
- metaphorical units of predominantly abusive content, where emotionality
 is created by transferring the features of a person, an animal, an object or
 a phenomenon to a person the speaker is referring to *tornado*.
- the names that underlie the phenomenon of antonomasia Judas,
 Napoleon Bonaparte;
- the nicknames Drama Queen;
- phrases with the animal component *a filthy beast*;
- phytonyms *cornstalk*, *turnip*;
- ethnic nominations *like all the Irish*;
- metonymic words that call a person through the subject *red hat, sweetie pie* (Gnezdilova 2007: 56-57).

Functional emotional-evaluative units in the emotional discourse include such units that lose their denotative meaning, because it is almost completely or partially displaced by the emotional component of the meaning of the word. They are multifaceted with a wide emotional range and express disappointment, despair, pain,

delight, wonder and joy (Marochkin 1995: 70). A group of functionallexical units in the emotional discourse consists of stereotyped, frequently used vocabulary, which is easily reproduced at the minimum cost of speech effort. Gnezdilova includes here:

- exclamations (Oh, well, gee), including calling gods (Good God Almighty, for Chrissake) and curses (God damn their souls, damn you);
- lexical emotional intensifiers (terribly, perfectly, damned, so bloody);
- familyr vocabulary, or obscene words (sonny, my boy, pig-headed devil) (Gnezdilova 2007: 58-59).

Emotional discourse is lexically impoverished because it consists of the most common, simple words which come to mind in the first place.

The essence of the emotional discourse is manifested in carefully selected lexical means and a high style of speech, aimed at the clear expression of the thought and the creation of the elevated mood of the addressee. A high style of speech consists of a sophisticated and organization of "striking" words (Romanova, Fillipov 2001: 35), that is, capable of attracting the listener's attention and stirring up their emotions.

To create expressiveness, a literary-written, stylistically sophisticated official and eloquent vocabulary is used, represented mainly by rarely used words that refer to:

- bookish vocabulary (narcissism, sightlessness, wonderment);
- poetic vocabulary (anadem, cedar, heaven);
- religious vocabulary (Jesus' birth, Christ, Life and Light);
- archaisms (lenient, to knoll);
- neologisms (megafortunes, gangsterdom) (Gnezdilova 2007: 61-62).

These lexical units denote abstract concepts. They do not belong to the class of emotional vocabulary, but the speaker in the emotional discourse resorts to combining

these lexical units in order to perform the expressive function. Compared to emotional, emotive discourse is characterized by a high degree of lexical diversity, which is achieved primarily by the large number of synonyms forming synonymous series, united by a common denotation.

Lexical means are the main indicators of emotional discourse because they convey the speaker's direct emotions through the emotional-evaluative units. Along with this, the emotional discourse is lexically diverse and is represented by the most commonly used words, which are explained by the spontaneity of speech and the automatic choice of words. The emotive language of the emotional discourse is created by high vocabulary and involves the use of a large number of synonyms, which indicates its great lexical diversity (Gnezdilova 2007: 64).

It should be mentioned that in emotional and emotive discourses, when the speaker intends to emphasize his feelings or evoke the emotions in the listener, stylistic means reinforce the importance of what the speaker says.

Stylistic means have different degrees of importance in the construction of emotional and emotive discourses. In the emotional discourse, they are auxiliary because they depend on the lexical meaning of linguistic units, and therefore reinforce what is expressed by lexical units. The peculiarity of the emotive discourse is that its expressiveness is created mainly by the stylistic means that organize the vocabulary in such a way as to give it and the discourse of expressiveness. In both emotional and emotive discourses, almost all possible stylistic figures and techniques can be utilized, but they differ in their values and functions (Gnezdilova 2007: 65).

Semantic stylistic means of emotional discourse are represented by hyperbole, metaphor, irony, comparison and gradation. They emphasize the attitude of the speaker towards another person, things, environment, world. Their effectiveness depends on the lexical content. If a negatively colored emotional vocabulary is used, then stylistic figures reinforce its negative meaning through comparison, exaggeration and juxtaposition. A special means among the stylistic means of the emotional

discourse is irony (Kaganovskaya 1992: 3; Pokhodnya 1984: 14; Prokofev 1988: 164). In this discourse, it is realized in its most natural function – mockery.

The peculiarities of the usage of stylistic semantic means in the emotive discourse are that they create emotional tension and give expressiveness to the vocabulary of this discourse through the combination of such units of language that cause good mood in the listeners. The speaker appeals to the emotional realm of the listener, using the words that should strike. In order to achieve a culmination in emotional discourse, various stylistic techniques are used, namely metaphorization, hyperbolization, analogy, juxtaposition etc. These stylistic techniques intensify the action of each other and the effectiveness of the whole discourse, since it is known that the expressive speech tends to use the effect of "stringing" on the expressive means in order to increase the influence on the listener (Morokhovskiy, Vorobeva, Likhosherst, Timoshenko 1991: 156).

Both emotional and emotive discourses widely use syntactic stylistic tools, which are divided into 4 groups:

- 1) direct repetition of lexical units (anaphora, epiphora, repetition, polysyndeton) and indirect repetition of lexical units (parallelism, enumeration, tautology);
 - 2) transformation of the sentence structure asyndeton, inversion, ellipse, etc;
- 3) complication or extension of the syntactic structure of sentence and discourse as a whole *address*, *clarification*, *quotations*;
 - 4) structural violations of the sentence *pause* (Gnezdilova 2007: 70).

In the emotional discourse, the central figure of the syntactic stylistic means of the first group is repetition (Morokhovskiy, Vorobeva, Likhosherst, Timoshenko 1991: 145-147, 154, 156; Nushikyan 1986: 44; Sokolova 1998: 191), since despite the variety of means of this group, the principle of their functioning has the same character, which is manifested in the repetition of linguistic units (Beketova 1997: 17-18; Sokolova 2002: 9-11). In the emotional discourse, the means of this group

confirm that the formulation of the thought comes to light directly in the speech process. It means that the latter is spontaneous, because the repetition is either a selection of a more accurate word or an expression of its representation, or a high emotional arousal.

The most repetitive units indicate to what exactly brought the speaker out of the emotional balance. They also convey the tension, disapproval, mockery, fright, confusion, and other emotions inherent in the speaker at the time of expression. A peculiar means of emotional discourse belonging to the repetition group is interrogation (asking several times the same thing) (Artemenko 2000: 115; Trotsiuk: 1994: 128; Frolova 1998: 217-218). The speaker resorts to interrogations to request additional information not because he did not understand something, but because what he heard evokes a certain emotion, such as confusion, surprise, misunderstanding, etc.

The second group of stylistic syntactic means consists of asyndeton, inversion, embodiment, the common feature of which in emotional discourse is the transformation of the structure of sentence and discourse, when the most important, mostly new information comes to the fore under the influence of the emotional state (Gnezdilova 2007: 72). The speaker starts about something that is relevant to them, indicating the piece of information they want to clarify. In the emotional discourse, the central place of the means of the transformation group is occupied by inversion, which manifests itself in the violation of the traditional order of words.

The means of the third group – inserted elements, clarifications, quotations – indicate the extension and complication of the syntactic structure of a sentence and of a discourse. The central figure of this group the emotive discourse is the inserted elements. This follows from the fact that they break the structure of the main clause, they do not integrate grammatically and contextually, indicating the imperfection, the defect of spontaneous speech (Winchmann 2001: 177-178).

The fourth group of syntactic means that lead to the sentence structure violation is inherent in the exclusively emotional discourse, pointing to certain rhythmic

(pausing) and grammatical violations (grammatisms) (Gnezdilova 2007: 75). Pausation, for example, is realized in the emotional speech in interruptions that lead to repetition or unfinished replies. The reason for interruptions is the intemperance of the speaker due to a high level of emotional excitement.

Syntactic stylistic means of emotional discourse are divided into three groups:

- repetition;
- transformation;
- extension/complications.

The main means of repetition in the emotional discourse includes parallelism which is based on the lexical-syntactic repetition (Beketova 1997: 18; Sokolova 1998: 11) and is central in this group, on the assumption that 1) it will be taken as a basis in the formation of other means or 2) it plays a key role in the combination with other means.

In the first case we are talking about such varieties of parallelism as syntactic tautology and chiasmus. Syntactic tautology, characterized by the simultaneous use of two semantically and grammatically synonymous units, inserts into the emotional discourse the element of emotionality and conveys a double emphasis on the key idea.

The chiasmus, which is called the inverted parallelism (Cuddon 1982: 113), adds particular expressiveness to the discourse at the expense of the structural and semantic reflection of its first part by the second.

The expressiveness of the second group of stylistic syntactic means in the emotive discourse is manifested in the transformation of the syntactic structure of both the sentence and the whole discourse. Their significance and expressiveness are to weaken the close relationship between the individual components of a sentence or discourse, which is manifested in the disruption of the sequence of components of the traditional syntactic model and, accordingly, the change of meaning, giving a certain part a structural and intonational-semantic significance (Gnezdilova 2007: 80).

Particularly expressive and specific is the parcellation, which splits the members of a simple or composite sentence by dividing them into separate units.

The third group of stylistic syntactic means of extension includes complications, imbedded structures, references, emphatic structures, clarifications, citations. The things that combine them are, first of all, imbedded elements, clarifications and addresses are not obligatory, grammatically independent constructions in a sentence, the removal of which does not create significant difficulties in perception and comprehension; second, they lead to the complication and extension of the syntactic structure of a sentence or discourse; third, they are punctuated, which emphasizes their important role in the expressiveness of emotive discourse (Gnezdilova 2007: 81).

Imbedded elements and clarifications carry additional information (Biber, Johansson, Leech 1999: 137), detailing and specifying certain points in the message. In the emotive discourse, they are realized in the form of an independent, often complicated sentence. Addresses are used in the function of emotional nomination (Nushikyan 1986: 46), in order to emphasize the positive qualities of a person and are designed to establish the necessary contact with the addressee.

Quotation is common in both discourses, but unlike the emotional discourse, in the emotive one, the speaker refers to the source of the citation. And emphatic structures serve to logically isolate and intensify the value of the desired destination.

Therefore, in the transmission of the excitement of the speakers in the emotional discourse, the main emphasis is placed on the lexical expressive means, which directly reflect their condition, and the stylistic means, in their turn, reinforce what is expressed by the words. The expressiveness of the emotive discourse, as opposed to the emotional, is created mainly by the means of the stylistic level, frequently observed in the convergence of various stylistic figures and means.

1.3 Major means of emotion verbalization.

Linguistic verbalization of emotions can be accomplished by various means: by means of emotional vocabulary expressed in different ways, by metaphorical expressions, as well as by means of epithets, comparisons.

Malynenko mentions that emotives are categorized by the quantity of emotions in their semantics (affectives, connotatives, potentials), by the mode of their existence (verbal, speech), by the type of emotional semantics, by the parameter of explicitness, by implication of expression. The lexicalization emotional processes occurs through the mental mechanism of their reflection in the semantics of words used to verbalize emotional relationships (Malynenko 2014: 187).

Galkina-Fedoruk includes here the words which express the feelings of the person and the words-evaluations that qualify the subject and the phenomenon positively or negatively (Galkina-Fedoruk 1958: 115) Arnold excludes from the emotive words those which indicate emotions and feelings (Arnold 1959). Vaygla believes that words that carry the information about the emotional attitude of a person should be considered as emotional vocabulary (Vaygla 1977).

Within the framework of the linguacultural approach, the model of interpretation of emotional states on the basis of universal semantic primitives for different languages was developed by Wierzbicka. According to the scientist, emotions cannot be identified without the help of words, and words belong to one specific culture and bring the cultural specificity. She classifies the names of emotional states as follows:

- 1) emotions associated with "bad things" (sadness, unhappiness, distress, upset, sorrow, grief, despair);
- 2) emotions associated with "good things" (joy hapiness, content, pleasure, delight, excitement);
- 3) emotions related to people who have done bad deeds (anger, fury, rage, wrath, madness);

- 4) emotions related to thinking about oneself, self-esteem (remorse, guilt, shame, humiliation, embarrassment, pride, triumph);
- 5) emotions related to the attitude towards other people (love, hate, respect, pity, envy) (Wierzbicka 1996: 333).

In studying vocabulary that reflects emotions or feelings, Shmelev provides the following division:

- 1) into units that denote certain emotions and experiences;
- 2) into the units whose linguistic significance is created by means of word formation;
- 3) words, in the lexical meaning of which, an assessment of phenomena is contained (Shmelev 1977).

Talking about the definition of the emotional vocabulary, Fylymonova and Babenko have the same opinion. Emotional vocabulary is interpreted as a vocabulary that names, describes and expresses emotions (Babenko 1989; Fylymonova 2001).

Fylymonova states that emotional state and emotional attitude can be embodied in language by various means: direct nomination (fear, love, anger), expression (exclamations, investment vocabulary, etc.) and description (poses, features of speech and gaze) etc.) (Fylymonova 2001).

Shakhovskiy in his theory identifies three groups of vocabulary that represent emotions:

- 1) vocabulary, which names and denotes emotions;
- 2) vocabulary that describes emotions;
- 3) vocabulary that expresses emotions (Shakhovskiy 1987, 91).

The researcher notes that the word that calls emotion (love, hatred) does not express it, but serves as an indicator of the concept of this emotion, while "the emotion by its semantics expresses the emotional state of the inner self, its consciousness and psyche" (Shakhovskiy 1987, 91).

In modern lexicology the category of emotivity is used to describe emotive lexical units. Shakhovskiy divides emotions into universal, recognized in all cultures, and those, which are defined by social and cultural characteristics, therefore specific for a particular culture. The expression of emotions depends on the variety of cultures, periods, social classes and in such a way the use of proper means (vocal / nonvocal, verbal / nonverbal) is determined. Thus, we should distinguish emotions, their physiological embodiment (laughter, tears etc.), and the ways emotional categories are displayed in the texts using emotional vocabulary which can be represented by nomination, description and expression of basic emotions. (Shakhovskiy 1987).

Nominal means of representing emotional concepts include the names of concepts, their synonyms and derivatives. The mechanism of nomination of emotions is realized through the use of the key representative in the context – the name of the emotion, its synonym or derivative, which can testify to the multifaceted structure or semantics of linguistic units.

The descriptive means of emotion verbalization include linguistic expressions that express the meaning of an emotion, not by naming it, but by describing it or by indirectly pointing to it.

Expressive means include lexical units that express the subjective attitude of the speaker to the content or addressee of the speech in a communicative act.

Malynenko in the profound study of emotion categorization revealed the most common means of emotion verbalization (Malynenko 2014: 190). Lexical units expressed by nouns and adjectives quantitatively outweigh the usage of verbs. Descriptive means are also dominated by nouns and adjectives, adverbs predominate over verbs. Additionally, expressive means are most often represented by exclamations that are associated with the expression of emotion of sadness and dissatisfaction. What is more, fear is the most commonly expressed emotional concept compared to other basic emotional concepts.

Here are some examples where emotional concepts are verbalized by various means: "She had a strange dislike to walking on the side of her companion where hung the afflicted arm, moving round to the other when inadvertently near it" (Hardy). In this example, the description of the emotion of disgust occurs in the author's speech and is created with the help of the synonym of the word disgust — dislike which is expressed by a noun.

Here is the example of the language nomination of fear, which is verbalized by a synonym of the emotional concept fear – "panic-stricken": "*Thoroughly panic-stricken, I dropped his hand, and uttered a cry of terror*" (Collins). The amplification of the emotion of fear is expressed by the expressive noun phrase "a cry of terror", where the item 'terror' denotes the degree of extreme fear – horror.

The next example illustrates the expression of the feeling of sadness with the expressive exclamation "alas", which shows the feeling of regret for the lack of courage. "This might be very good for dinner, but it would be a bad joke for me when the hour for dancing came. And, alas! I felt that I lacked the courage" (Trollope).

Shakhovskiy distinguishes two semiotic systems of emotions – Body Language and Verbal Language, which are not studied enough from the point of view of their correlation. Though, it has been established, that the primary semiotic system predominates over the secondary one (verbal) in the speed, directness, reliability, the level of sincerity and the quality of expressing emotions. The explanation of the phenomenon is rather simple as the reality is much richer than a language. The verbal expression of emotions is usually subjective. The same emotion is expressed by different personalities in different ways because of numerous factors. As far as emotions are always cognitive and situational, their choice is also situational.

Shakhovskiy stresses two types of emotive vocabulary: affective and connotative lexical units. The scholar refers "the following lexical units to the affective ones: interjections, swear words and tender words, emotionally intensified adjectives and adverbs that are shown as specialized emotive lexical units, as the

verbalization of emotions" (Shakhovskiy 1987).

According to Shakhovskiy "connotative lexical units are emotive in secondary figurative meanings, derivatives with affixes of emotive subjective estimation, which express emotivity through logical subject semantics" (...). The author thinks that the connotative lexical units have the following structure of their lexical meaning: the nomination of the object of reflection plus the emotional attitude of the subject of reflection. Emotional connotations are produced in a text with the help of emotionally estimated adjectives, verbs, which contain the estimation in their semantics. Interjections are commonly accepted language units with the emotional meaning (Shakhovskiy 1987).

Mikhaylovskaya analyzes the words that belong to different parts of speech connected by means of the stem with some secondary interjections, for example, *damn* interjection, *damnable* adjective, *damned* adverb. The author also considers the words close to the interjections by the meaning, for example, *nonsense*, *rot*, *rubbish*, *fine*, *great*, *splendid*, *lovely* (Mikhaylovskaya 1966).

An adjective is an important means of expressing emotional connotations. The negative estimation dominates in the adjectives *foolish*, *silly*, *dirty*, *stupid*, *crazy*, *mad* and others, that are used in the text to express rage, disagreement, contempt, astonishment. The positive estimation dominates in the adjectives *sweet*, *lovely*, *good*, *wise* and others, which are used in the texts to express delight, joy, approval.

Positive and negative emotions are expressed with the help of adverbs of measure and degree, in which emotional meaning is displayed first of all while the main denotative sense is suppressed. In such a case the adverbs are used as intensifiers with a higher degree of intensification, showing a very high level of emotional saturation.

The emotional sense is often transferred by the nouns, in which the meaning of emotional estimation is the only possible one and makes the base for nomination: *fool, devil, brute, idiot, treasure, and darling*.

Emotional connotations are expressed with the help of the nouns like *thing*, *creature* etc., in which the meaning of emotional estimation appears only in a proper context thanks to their connection with emotionally estimated adjectives: *What a charming wicked creature! I like him so much!*

It should be noted, that in comparison with the emotional potential of adjectives and nouns the possibilities of a verb are more limited.

Difficulty and diversity in expressing a person's emotional state is shown by phraseological units – permanent word combinations with entirely or partly reinterpreted components of the meaning.

Kondrashina studies the category of emotivity in phraseology in its correlation with corresponding notions in the sphere of psychology of emotions. The criteria, according to which Kondrashina points out the emotive component in the meaning structure of phraseological units, are the indicators, which are divided into two groups:

- 1) general ones expressed by the lexical units feeling, emotion, mood;
- 2) partial ones, which express or identify a particular emotion, e.g. *anger*, *joy*, *hate*. The scientist divides the partial indicators into four groups depending on the estimation they have: emotive indicators of negative, positive, neutral, and dual estimation (Kondrashina 1991).

The problem of an emotional factor in phraseology has been studied by Kurikalova, who thinks that the semantic group of phraseological units with the emotional state meaning is a combination of two classes of units, gathered according to the meaning of emotions:

- 1) phraseological units of the negative emotional state;
- 2) phraseological units of the positive emotional state (Kurikalova 1985).

Kurikalova concludes that phraseological units of the negative emotional state dominate. The author investigates separate groups:

1) The class of phraseological units, which denote the psychic state in the

cognitive activity:

- a) phraseological units with the meaning of embarrassment, confusion;
- b) phraseological units, that express astonishment.
- 2) The class of phraseological units, which denote the psychic state in the volitional activity:
 - a) phraseological units, which denote the psychic state, characterized by the loss of volitional control;
 - b) phraseological units, which denote the psychic state, characterized by the predominant idea of volitional component of the human psyche (Kurikalova 1985).

In modern linguistic researches the idea, that almost every word contains emotional component in the meaning, is widespread. For the reflection of emotions in a written form, special lexical means are necessary, to determine them the method of descriptors is used, as it is shown in the work of Sevidova. To the lexical descriptors the scientist refers:

- 1. words, that evoke emotions;
- 2. words and word combinations, that contain the emotional component in their semantic structure (swear words, tender words, etc.);
- 3. words and expressions, the semantic structure of which is absolutely emotional (interjections, emotional particles) (Sevidova).

Gordienko provides some examples of the usage of different lexical means to express different emotions:

1. the use of direct emotive lexical units:

"My wife if a woman of the most charming character, an admirable woman" (admiration, affection);

"I was flattered" (satisfaction);

"I was desperate" (despair);

"I am shocked" (shock)

2. the use of rude words stresses irritation and anger:

"You are an idiot! How could you do that?"

"God damn it!"

3. the description of an emotional state, in which lexical units gain the meaning of emotive vocabulary with the help of the context:

"I could not but notice that the governor gave her hand an affectionate little squeeze" (the description of joy and love);

"I tried to smile but my heart was sore" (worry).

4. the description of an emotional state using the antonyms of different parts of speech (especially nouns, verbs, adjectives):

"They were blonde and dark, tall and short, fat and thin" (confusion);

"She was a woman of masculine intelligence and feminine sensibility" (admiration);

"What can a prolonged reflection add to the impulse of the moment?" (affection);

"She laughed till the tears ran down her face" (joy);

5. the use of the phraseological units with negative emotivity:

"I pulled all the strings I could" (despair);

"At last I lost my temper" (anger) (Gordiienko 2014: 64-65).

It should be mentioned that the emotive meaning is generated thanks to the combination of lexical, grammatical, syntactic, and intonation means that come together.

Conclusions to Chapter One

Emotions and feelings are the subject of the study of philosophers, psychologists and linguists, but the approaches to the study of emotions are different. Foreign and domestic psychologists have made a great contribution to the development of theoretical and methodological framework for the study of emotions.

The Linguistic study of emotions involves the analysis of emotions at different language levels. The linguistic aspect of the study of emotions becomes important and relevant because it is possible to clarify certain provisions of the theory of emotionality. In linguistics the developer of the theory of emotion is V.I. Shakhovsky, who introduced its basic provisions, developed a terminological apparatus, outlined the problems of speech communication in different types of discourse.

We can talk about emotions and express them using nouns like love, anger, surprise. What is more, there are other parts of speech which also contain words that convey emotions, for instance verbs (to love, hate, to enjoy, to hope) and adjectives (disanointed, stressed out, depressed, happy). Prepositions are also discussed, as they play a role in the relational (love for something) aspects of the conceptualization of emotions.

The categories of emotionality and emotivity have repeatedly become the subject of consideration in linguistics. Both discourses are related to emotionally-colored speech. In this case, they differ in the parameter of preparedness / unpreparedness, which, on the one hand, can serve to reflect and transmit the emotional state of the speaker, on the other hand – to exercise a purposeful influence on the emotions of the addressee in order to manipulate or to obtain the desired result.

The emotional discourse is such an unprepared kind of speech activity that results from the spontaneous manifestation of emotions in an emotionally determined situation. Emotions triggered by a particular situation, through spontaneously selected expressive language units, create such a perlocutory effect that results in the speaker's

loss of self-control or his mental balance.

The emotive discourse as a form of public speech is a motivated, pre-planned expressive speech activity, carefully considered in terms of the choice of language means and speech strategies and tactics, which are designed to have an emotional effect on the recipient. The readiness of the discourse is manifested in the clear formulation of thoughts, their logical combination, accessibility of perception and expressive representation through the use of stylistically-marked linguistic means.

The Differences between emotional and emotive discourses are manifested in their lexical and stylistic features.

According to Shakhovsky, there are 3 ways with the help of which the emotional categories are displayed in the texts using emotional vocabulary: by nomination, description and expression of basic emotions.

The nominal means of representing emotional concepts include the names ofemotions, their synonyms and derivatives.

Descriptive means of emotion verbalization include linguistic expressions that express the meaning of an emotion, not by naming it, but by describing it or by indirectly pointing to it.

Expressive means include lexical units that express the subjective attitude of the speaker to the content or the addressee of the speech in a communicative act.

CHAPTER TWO. EMOTIONS AND EMOTION EVOKING IN MODERN ENGLISH ADVERTISING DISCOURSE.

2.1 The social advertisement discourse as a powerful vehicle of pipelining emotions

In modern society, advertising is an integral part of everyday life, so a lot of researchers study it in many scientific disciplines. Advertising is an object of research in sociology (Dryu 2002; Lapina 2014), semiotics (Pocheptsov 2001), psychology (Grimak 1999; Zazyikin 1992; Imshinetskaya 2004), political science (Volodina 2003; Voronenkova 1999; Medvedeva 2003), economic sciences (Volkova 1999; Dzhefkins 2001; Kohtev 1997), and literary studies (Sazhyna 2007).

Advertising is viewed as the phenomenon of mass communication and is defined as "a set of measures aimed at achieving material (purchase) or ideal (change in the system of views) effects in order to form and satisfy the economic, informational and socio-political requests of a certain part of the society through various means of social connection" (Nikitina 1998: 4).

Mass communication refers to the "systematic spread of messages (through the press, radio, television, cinema, video, audio recording) to numerous widely dispersed audiences for the purpose of affirming spiritual values and influencing people's evaluations, thoughts and behavior in ideological, political, economic or organizational ways" (Ilichev, Fedoseev, Kovalev & Panov 1983: 348]. According to economists, it is the advertised goods and services that are selling more successfully (Olyanich 2013: 13).

The essence of advertising is summarized as following: "1) advertising is an act of influence that can more or less successfully influence the evaluative and practical choices or remain indifferent; 2) advertising is a craft and, accordingly, its product can be judged to be a good job or a bad one; 3) advertising is an appeal to social feelings, manipulation of values that may be acceptable to society, even progressive or ethically questionable; 4) advertising is an art, and its works can be admirable or cause antipathy, the can be immediately appreciated as aesthetically perfect or

mediocre, and the creators as talented or deprived of good taste" (Pavliuk 2006). Obviously, all of these definitions of the advertisements are related to the recipient.

The communicative influence is achieved through advertising, which means "managing the behavior of a person or a group of people through linguistic information" (Tarasov 1974), "influencing the knowledge, attitude and intent of the addressee in the desired way " (Olyanich 2013: 19). Therefore, advertising information always serves the purpose of the communicative influence. Therefore, the study of the influence of advertising by the means of language is one of the most popular subjects in linguistics (Denisyuk 2003; Mahnin 2005; Ostroushko 2003; Pirogova 2001; Popova 2002)).

Advertising involves all three types of the communicative effect, which are: 1) changing the subject's attitude to a particular object; 2) formation of the general emotional setting of the addressee; 3) restructuring of the categorical structure of the recipient's individual consciousness (Olyanich 2013: 20-21).

In addition, the communicative influence in advertising demonstrates a combination of three factors: psychological (motive), social (purpose) and linguistic (means) (Denisyuk 2003: 28).

The motive as a psychological factor of influence is understood as "a need to convey a certain idea of a particular object or phenomenon of reality reflected in the mind" (Alefirenko 2002: 73]. In addition, the motive includes " communicants' desires and interests, in performing actions and directing their speech activity" (Eyger 2000: 11). In psycholinguistics, motive is regarded as a pre-intentional state in the structure of speech activity (Leontev 2003: 26).

The main motive of the advertiser is the need to profit from the sale of the goods that he produces and/or promotes in the market. This motive is realized for the purpose of the advertiser that is a social factor of communicative influence. The purposefulness of advertising is a generally recognized characteristic of it: "The basic

characteristic of advertising is the focus on the achievement of commercial goals, that is, the goals of promoting the advertised object in the market" (Olyanich 2013: 10).

Advertising is a tool for promoting a product or service to the consumer. The task of advertising is to formulate internal references based on which the consumer makes his choice: advertising actively uses references, for example, to the aristocratic world, which is not accessible to most consumers (Pocheptsov 2001: 543), advertising technique is aimed at creating a correlation between feelings and material objects, that is, the unattainable is linked to the attainable (Pocheptsov 2001: 71).

The linguistic factor of communicative influence is related to its means, which is primarily natural language in advertising. The question arises about the functions of language in advertising, because "the verbal structure of the message depends primarily on the dominant function" (Yakobson 1975: 196). Eko distinguishes in the context of advertising the same six functions of language proposed by Jacobson: "Along with the always-predominant emotional function, it is possible to distinguish referential, phatic, metalinguistic, aesthetic and imperative" (Eko 1998: 179).

The main functions of language are: referential (communicative, denotative, or cognitive), which is related to the setting of the referent and orientation to the context, emotive (expressive), which is related to the emotions of the speaker, with the expression of his attitude to what he speaks and imperative (connective, influential, voluntary) which is relevant to the addressee. Additional features – phatic, aimed at maintaining communication, aesthetic (poetic), which involves focusing on the message, metalinguistic, which allows to utilize language and speak about language (Yakobson 1975: 196-199).

The most important are the emotive and aesthetic functions of advertising (Pocheptsov 2001: 68). The emotive function is conditioned by the richness of various verbal and non-verbal stylistic means: "Advertising can be enthralling or disturbing, but it does not belong to the worst genres – boring ones" (Pavliuk 2006).

These functions are performed by the language in advertising through the language means used by the advertiser to influence the consumer. In this connection, the question of the unit of linguistic analysis of advertising that has evolved from advertising message to advertising text and discourse is important.

For a long time in linguistics, the main unit of advertising analysis was the advertising message (Bornyakova 2007; Gorlatov 2015: 37; Zazyikin 1992; Korableva 2008; Medvedeva 2003; Shido 2002: 10). In particular, the advertising text meant a functionally organized message, constructed according to the grammatical and stylistic norms of the language and communicative intentions of the addressee, determined by the communication situation (Nikitina 1998). This approach narrows the pragmatic properties of advertising and eliminates its main communicative purpose – motivation.

The most frequent in linguistic research is the reference to advertising as to the advertising text (Avdeenko 2001; Akulicheva 2008; Anopina 1997; Barkova 1983; Volkohon 1999; Gaponova 2007; Zelinska 2002; Zolina 2006; Isakova 1999; Kaftandzhiev 1995). In these studies, advertising appears as a special kind of the text, which, at the same time, has a tremendous psychological impact on the society as a tool for stimulating economic processes (Medvedeva 2003: 23).

Nowadays there is a widespread understanding of advertising text as creolized (multimodal) (Anisimova 2003; Kyiak-Redkovych 2011; Kulagina 2011). The following properties of its verbal component are studied: structural (Avdeenko 2001), phonographic (Volkohon 1999), lexical (Karataeva 2003), syntactic (Zolina 2006), pragmatic (Barkova 1983), including their interaction (Vornachev 2009), as well as the addressee factor (Anopina 1997), ergonomic aspect (Isakova 1999), various aspects of influence (Mahnin 2005).

In the recent linguistic studies, advertising discourse is in the focus of attention of many scholars (Aleksandrova 2006; Anikin 2006; Hulak 2005; Domovets 1999; Donskaya 2007; Zadorizhna 2008; Ilinova 2013).

The study of advertising discourse covers its systemic and structural features (Aleksandrova 2006; Zadorizhna 2008), pragmatic (Nagornaya 2003; Sienicheva), cognitive (Radu 2010; Samarina 2010), and linguo-cultural (Kositskaya 2005; Kochetova 1999) characteristics, strategic potential (Domovets 1999; Kolesnyk 2007), gender specificity (Malyishenko 2004), and axiological properties (Hulak 2005).

The discursive approach to the analysis of advertising is the most valid because it allows to take into account a wide range of aspects of analysis – sociolinguistic, pragmatic, strategic, cognitive etc. However, the main aspect of linguistic analysis of advertising discourse remains verbal.

The concept of discourse in modern linguistics is ambiguous. For the analysis of advertising, it is preferable to interpret discourse in the vein of Kharkiv Linguistic School. By definition of Shevchenko and Morozova, discourse is an integral phenomenon, a mental-communicative activity, which is the totality of the process and result and includes both the extralinguistic and the lingual aspect; in the latter in addition to the text, presupposition and context (social, pragmatic, cognitive) are distinguished which determine the choice of linguistic means (Shevchenko 2005: 17).

Bezugla states that "based on the linguistic definition of discourse in general, advertising discourse is defined as a mental-communicative phenomenon, which encompasses two components – communicative interaction in the sphere of mass advertising, aimed at promoting goods or services by verbal and non-verbal means, on the one hand, and advertising text on the other" (Bezuhla 2017).

The types of advertising are distinguished by a number of criteria: goals, object, channel of distribution, method of presentation of information, target group, genre, form, content, evaluation of performance, customer, method of influence, purpose of impact, strategy, and a type of psychological reaction. Some classifications are presented below.

Depending on the specific goals, the following types of advertising are distinguished (Shestak 2013: 61]:

- to inform about a new product introductory/informative advertising;
- to remind about the product reminder ads;
- to counter product competitiveness stabilization advertising;
- to expand the product market expansion advertising;
- to generate selective demand informative advertising.

Depending on the advertising genre, political, household, scientific and technical advertising is distinguished (Dzhefkins 2001: 237; Shido 2002: 9). According to the type of psychological reaction, emotional and provocative advertisements can be discerned (Shestak 2013: 61).

According to the nature of emotional impact the following types of advertising are distinguished:

- rational advertising. Such advertising informs, appeals to the mind of the potential buyer, makes convincing arguments;
- emotional advertising. Emotional advertising appeals to feelings and emotions; the main means of persuasion are artistic images: pictures, videos, sounds, and the logic of text.

There is no purely rational or highly emotional advertising. Usually, both types of influence are combined in advertising products.

The main distribution channel of advertisement is the press: newspapers and magazines, catalogs, flyers, coupons, outdoor advertising, television, radio, cinema, direct mail, and its target group are the consumers of goods and services of all walks of life (Nikitina 1998: 9).

The object of our study is modern English Social advertising in the media.

According to Derevyanko social advertising is not a tool for changing society, changing behaviors, a method of combating immorality and moral irresponsibility,

but it can be a way of cultural and moral enrichment of the population, by forming a public opinion (Derevyanko, Zyibin 2012: 2).

The mission of social advertising is to change people's attitudes to existing problems, and in the long term to offer new social values that are in demand by the society.

Romanov believes that social advertising ("public service advertising") aims at fostering morality, creating a healthy lifestyle, a positive humanistic worldview of people, protecting human rights and freedoms (Romanov 2010: 99).

According to Melnikova and all, social advertising includes the following groups:

- 1) advertising of a certain lifestyle criticism of smoking, drug addiction, alcoholism, promotion of proper nutrition and education, strong family relationships. A special place in this group is occupied by environmental advertising, which is aimed at preserving nature and respecting animals;
 - 2) advertising dedicated to constitutional rights and freedoms of people;
- 3) patriotic advertising advertising dedicated to holidays, anniversaries, sporting events, designed to unite the nation (Melnikova, Kaschenko, Luzhnova & Mihaylova 2010: 61).

In our study, we pay attention to the emotional and emotive component that influence the perception of public service advertising. The great example of social advertising is Love Has No Labels (Diversity & Inclusion) advertisement created by Ad Council. This video touches upon the topic of inequality and discrimination. The Love Has No Labels campaign challenges us to open our eyes to our bias and prejudice and work to stop it in ourselves, our friends, our families, and our colleagues.

While the vast majority of people consider themselves unprejudiced, many of us unintentionally make snap judgments about people based on what we see whether it's race, age, gender, religion, sexuality, or disability. The advertisement starts with the view on the street where a lot of people see the big screen with X-rays. The thing is that behind this screen are people, however the viewers see only their skeleton, without any special peculiarities. Once the music starts playing, we can hear the lines:

"And I can't change

Even if I tried

Even I wanted to

My love, my love, my love" (Ad Council 2016).

Together with the first line the first couple comes out and it is a couple of women who are in the relationships. It is well-known that some people practice some kind of medical treatment and mental help to "convert" to heterosexualisms and the 1st line of the song negotiates this; it sounds like these women say themselves that they "can't change" and the world should perceive them as they are. The negotiation is used here in order to make the statement stronger and final.

At the beginning, the lines of the song are perceived in a negative way, because of the negation and the usage of subjunctive mood which presupposes some doubt and hypothetical situations. However, the last line "My love, my love, my love" evokes positive emotions since "love" belongs to the type of emotions that brings strong feelings. What is more, this phrase is repeated several times in order to make people understand that this couple also experiences love, they love each other and there is nothing you can do about it. The video and the song correlate here and verbal and non-verbal means complement each other.

What is more, there are several strong statements mentioned in the video: "Love has no gender", "Love has no race", "Love has no disability", "Love has no age", "Love has no religion" (Ad Council 2016). Every phrase has the same beginning and only the last word changes. It is made in this way to show that people can sometimes judge due to different reasons, however all these reasons do not matter.

Some of the words are already emotionally charged and some of them become emotional only in the context. For instance, the word "disability" means an impairment which affects a person's life in a negative way, since some inconveniences will be caused. However, the word "age" is neutral and transmits emotions only in the provided sentence.

All these sentences are reinforced by the visual content as well. When a gay couple is shown, the phrase "Love has no gender" appears; when intercultural couple or friends are depicted, the sentence "Love has no race" appears; when people with special needs are shown, the phrase "Love has no disability" appears; when the aged, old couple who spent their whole life together is shown, the sentence "Love has no age" appears, when friends who believe in different Gods are shown, the sentence "Love has no religion" appears.

At the end people who were playing in the advertisement sum it up:

- "My heart doesn't see race";
- "Love has no age limit";
- "That's my best friend";
- "We are neighbors and best friends";
- "We all have different religions but we have universal love as well";
- "I love my sister";
- "Love is love";
- "Our family is no less them any other family" (Ad Council 2016).

The word "love" is expressed by nominal means of implementing emotional concepts and is the most common in the video, since the main idea here is acceptance and equality and love incarnates these notions. What is more, the phrase best friend is utilized in the speech of the main characters. "Best friend" as well as "love" evoke positive emotions and these positive emotions may affect someone's way of thinking, which initially was the main reason for such social advertisement.

It is important to mention that all the sentences are spoken in the indicative mood, which actually expresses a factual statement. This makes the viewers believe that the given piece of information is a truth, thus it is easier to reach to their minds.

2.2 The technique of emotional and emotive advertising in Modern English media discourse.

Emotion can be a powerful catalyst for marketing efforts to generate powerful advertising. Emotions also can help consumers understand and accept the promotional message when they are used properly. Indeed, correct and successful usage of emotive and emotional language can make the difference between a consumer who buys a particular product and a consumer who refuses to do so.

Advertisers have an entire range of emotions they are able to use to make the advertisement powerful: positive, emotions such as happiness and joy or negative emotions such as fear and anger.

As it was already mentioned earlier, the American psychologist and emotion researcher Izard singled out fundamental (basic) emotions and complex emotional states, which are a certain combination of fundamental emotions. Fundamental emotions include interest, joy, surprise, sadness, anger, disgust, contempt, fear, shame, embarrassment (shyness), and guilt (Izard 2006).

From the first glance, it may seem reasonable to always appeal for positive emotions. However, as it turns out, both positive and negative emotions can be effective catalysts in persuasion.

When the negative emotions are used, the main idea is to show the deplorable consequences if the offered behavior pattern is not utilized. The negative result could be shown through the unpleasantly stimulating message. The perfect example is social advertising against smoking: the marketers usually make caveats about the adverse health outcome and try to prevent the audience from adopting some threatening and dangerous behaviors. Such words and phrases as "death", "terminal disease", "danger", "health issues" etc. are used to produce the negative effect and attract the attention of the audience (Irkliienko 2019: 300).

However, the usage of positive emotions has reached more effectiveness in social advertising. The positive appeal is put to use more often rather than the

negative one in order to encourage and entertain audiences and make the highlighted topic as attractive as possible. What is more, the positive appeal can be treated as an alternative to negative appeal and change people's perception and opinion completely. For instance, emphatic constructions are used in order to intensify the idea, giving it an emotive charge, e.g. "It is only sport and physical activities that can change your life completely and make you healthier".

Positive appeal often encourages people to adopt the chosen behavioral pattern and motivate them to be better or to be stronger. As a result, messages with positive emotions can thrust people forward, emphasizing on positive consequences for them as well as showing the better effect of the positive way of thinking and attitude towards the issue raised.

It is also important to find an appropriate and reliable way to measure a consumer's response to your emotional branding. Several emotional advertising types can be distinguished and they can be divided to the positive and negative ones.

Emotional Advertising Type #1: Happiness and joy.

The most used emotion the advertisers tend to appeal is happiness. Happiness and joy make people feel good and most of them want to be associated with happiness, smiling, positivity and laughing. Such social advertisements focus on the people's connection and engagment with each other. For instance, "Ryan's unforgettable Mother's Day delivery to Mom" by Teleflora. The commercial starts with the message "When was the last time you told your Mom how much you loved her?" (Teleflora 2015) and you instantly want to give a call to your parents. Even though it is a question, the message sounds imperative.

Then, the viewers see a woman who arrives at someone's house and a lady comes of it. There is a special delivery for her: her son sent a video for the Mother's Day: "Hi, mom. Happy Mother's Day! I want to let you know how much I love you and I appreciate everything that you've done for me in my life. The distance between us isn't always easy, it's actually pretty hard sometimes. I miss you." (Teleflora

2015). This is a perfect example of the emotive speech: it is well-prepared and in the form of a monologue. The speaker uses antonyms easy-hard in order to lay stress on this particular point.

"Growing up it was just the two of us. You've had all the responsibility of raising a young boy into a man that you could be proud of. And I learned that you had a dream to become a professional athlete and then you got pregnant with me and you had to choose. You knew you couldn't do both and you gave it up to raise me and you raised me the best way that you knew how." (Teleflora 2015). The gradation is shown here — "raising a young boy into a man" — to make emphasis that his mom used to take of him, now he is an adult and it is time for him to make his mom happy. The repetition is also employed "to raise me and you raised me the best way" to reinforce the love the mother has for her child.

"I realize how hard it was and thank you very much. The discipline, the love, the support, the understanding that you gave me. I think of all the things that you did for me. I look at my children and if I can just do half of what you did, they would be so much better off. Because of you I stand here today: a father, a husband, a Navy commander. It's because of you." (Teleflora 2015). The speaker often uses enumeration. This way he shows how much he achieved with the help and love of his mom.

"I'm proud to call you my mother I'm proud to be your son. You made me the man that I am today I love you with all my heart." (Teleflora 2015). There are a lot of emotionally charged words in this extract: love, proud, thank you, the support, the understanding, miss. All these words are used in order to show affection and gratitude.

The advertisement ends with a simple message: "Send love" (Teleflora 2015). Even though it is an imperative message, it doesn't sound harsh, it sounds nice since the word "love" is utilized here (Ryan's unforgettable Mother's Day delivery to Mom" by Teleflora).

Emotional Advertising Type #2: Sadness

This type of emotion is used by advertisers to show a sense of compassion. Showing empathy or compassion makes the customers feel that you care. A perfect example of the social advertisement like this is "Dead Man Talking" by Transport for London. The action takes place on the street, the viewers understand from the first second that there was a car crash and now the doctors are trying to save this man's life, however all in vain.

Then suddenly this man starts talking: "I could be at home now, watching telly with the kids" (Transport for London 2013). The conditional mood is used here to show the probability of the situation: there could have been two options for this man – he could watch TV with his children or he could die in the car crash. His kids were mentioned on purpose, to make people think about their loved ones and why they are going to lose in such case. People already feel sad about this situation, however understanding that his children lost their father is devastating.

The man continues: "Or I was feeling about going for a pint, instead I've punctured my lungs and they are slowly filling us with blood" (Transport for London 2013). In the first part of the sentence he still tried to show that there is always an option, however the second part of it shows the real state of the events. The addresser compares his current state with the desired one, making the viewers emphasize. He doesn't pretend or doesn't try to find better words to explain the situation; he simply states the fact – he is dying. What is more, the word "blood" is already negatively charged as it is associated with some pain or wounds.

"Dead Man" mentions: "I am going into cardiac arrest now silly place to overtake, really. Still, you live and learn, don't you?" (Transport for London 2013). The tag question is used here to create a mood of hope, since the viewers are still alive and they are powerful enough to learn, to change their habits and they have the ability to live.

The last sentence is written in the imperative mood as it should be: "Don't ride too fast" (Transport for London 2013). It is not a warning or a piece of advice, the creators of this commercial simply forbid people to drive fast if they don't want to end up as the man depicted in the video.

Emotional Advertising Type #3: Fear

The most popular type of the negative emotions used in the social commercials is fear. All people are being afraid from time to time and this feeling helps people to be cautious and to react appropriately to threat. Fear makes people do something to change the situation and using this emotion in social advertisement will evoke strong feelings that they something bad may happen if the appropriate action is not taken.

However, the approach is risky since such commercials may be depressing and scary to the viewers. In this case, it is necessary to remind the viewers about their fears and always offer a solution. The great example of the social advertisement which uses fear as its leading emotion is the commercial about gun safety called "End Family Fire. Gun Safety" by Ad Council.

The setting is the usual day of a family: dad and son are at home, watching a cartoon and having fun. All of a sudden the boy asks his dad: "Do we have a gun? Can I play with it?" (Ad Council 2018). These 2 questions sound like an oxymoron: "how can a child play with a gun? how can anyone play with a gun?", because a gun is not a toy, it is a dangerous weapon. And the father surely responds "No, absolutely not. It's not a toy, you know that." (Ad Council 2018). However, the reply from a boy is shocking: "Do I? I bet it looks like one" (Ad Council 2018). It makes people realize in one second that it actually looks like a toy, since gun toys are very popular among boys. This rhetorical question is used here to draw people's attention to the issue raised, to make them understand that they have a weapon in the house, not a toy.

The father then tries to explain his reasons and why he keeps a gun in the house, however his son asks a very thought-provoking question once again: "But about the eight kids who get shot everyday by mistake?" (Ad Council 2018). This

statistical piece of information sound very strange in a conversation like that, however it gives food for thought and make people who have guns feel scared for the lives of their close ones.

After that the suspense is becoming stronger because of the boy's words: "Where so you keep it? I bet it is on the top shelf of the closet under your sweatshirts. Is it loaded? And the bullets are just beside the bed. I haven't found them yet, but I am sure I can. You always told me to be curious. Remember when I found my Christmas gift? I am a god climber you know" (Ad Council 2018). The boy keeps asking questions and answering them himself making the viewers feel terrified. His speech is very emotional since he doesn't even make pauses, he just keeps talking and gives a fact after a fact like shooting bullets from the gun.

His dad tried to explain his son that he needs a gun to protect his family: "No, no, Justin, I will teach you how to handle a gun when you are old enough" (Ad Council 2018). The next reply shocks more than the previous ones: "What if I don't make it till, I am old enough?" (Ad Council 2018). The last phrase is repeated to make emphasis on people's vulnerability. Their conversation continues:

- -I would be so easy with our gun.
- Our gun? No, buddy, my gun.
- But it is our gun, in our home (Ad Council 2018).

In this extract pronoun "our" is utilized to evoke the sense of commonality and make the audience the participants of the showed events.

Emotional Advertising Type #4: Surprise

This emotion can be treated from 2 perspectives: it can be used either as positive or as a negative emotion. This type is also utilized as the intensifier for other emotions. For instance, Honest Yearbook, Bullying Prevention by Ad Council showed how just by being kind to people you can change their mood.

The commercial starts with the questions which involves the viewers right away: "What's the impact teenagers have on each other?" (Ad Council 2018) and

after this questions people are interested in the outcome. The creators of the advertisement used the yearbook photo shoot of some students to find this out. While taking the pictures, the photographer informed all the students that their friend wants to surprise them and their showed some videos:

- "Hey Sharon, I am here. It's me".
- "Sup, Elvis! It's me Sara V" (Ad Council 2018). these are the perfect examples of emotive language, because the speakers use colloquial unprepared speech.
- "I just wanted to tell you I love you. And you mean the world to me, honestly. I was bullied for 4 years in the middle school and these girls; they would say the meanest things ever. I met you and when I smiled you said "You have the greatest smile" and it meant so much to me" (Ad Council 2018). Here the emotionally charged language is used: the word "love" already brings positive emotions. The word "honestly" also belongs to emotional language since the person emphasizes that they are speaking in a truthful or fair way. However, the positive emotions are changed since the speaker tells that they were bullied. They provide us with a personal story which appeals to our senses and evokes compassion.
- "It got to a point with my eating disorder. They were like "you have to make a decision whether to eat or you can't get back to school". You just sat there and you listened and you gave me advice. I've never had someone who wanted to hear what I have to say" (Ad Council 2018). Another speaker shares their emotional story and makes people realize that by simply being a kind and a good person you can make the difference.

The social advertisement ends with the following words: "Because of you someone's entire day can change. Because of you someone's entire year can change. Because of you someone's entire life can change" (Ad Council 2018). Here we can

trace the repetition on the whole phrase, only 3 words are changed. This gradation is utilized in order to show how some small action can make a bid impact.

Emotional Advertising Type #5: Anger and disgust

Anger is a negative emotion that will cause a negative association with the idea presented, however, anger can be used to draw people's attention and to steer action. Anger or disgust makes viewers reconsider their actions and accept the offered behavior pattern. It is normally used in advertisements that aim to make people mad about certain negative things, for example the public service advertisement about transport accidents "Meet Graham, the only person to survive on our roads" by Transport Accident Commission Victoria.

Graham is a model of a man who could survive in a major car accident. A whole team worked on the statue – a sculptor Patricia Piccinini, a trauma surgeon Christian Kenfield and a specialist in the field of car accident research David Logan. They collaborated to produce Graham – an interactive and lifelike sculpture demonstrating human vulnerability.

Studies show the human body can only cope with impact speeds people can reach on their own, unassisted by vehicles. Graham has been designed with bodily features that might be present in humans if they had evolved to withstand the forces involved in crashes.

Verbal and non-verbal means supplement each other: while the speakers tell their lines, we can see bits and pieces of Graham and at the end the whole body is shown to the viewers. In this way the suspension is created in order to make people watch till the end to find out how Graham looks like.

Different speakers tell some pieces of information. The first sentence is "The truth is that cars have evolved a lot faster that we have" (Transport Accident Commission Victoria 2016) and the viewer already suspects that the main theme of this commercial will be connected with cars and car crashes. Usually, the word "car"

is neutral, however in this commercial used as "car crash" or "car crash scenarios" it acquires negative features.

Then, the speakers just enumerate common facts that all people know:

- 1. "The strongest man cannot hold himself from going forwards in the car accident because the forces are so great".
- 2. "The most significant part of the body for injury is the head".
- 3. "Our bodies are just not equipped to handle the forces in common car crash scenarios" (Transport Accident Commission Victoria 2016).

While they are speaking, the viewers can see Graham and, in some way, they compare themselves to him. In speech it is expressed in this way: the phrase "our bodies are just not equipped to handle the forces..." (Transport Accident Commission Victoria 2016) and now meet Graham, he actually can handle everything. This is not a usual comparison; however, such sentence structure presupposes the implied comparison here.

The very last phrase together with the visual content makes people feel disgusted and angry at themselves: "Meet Graham – the only person designed to survive on the roads" (Transport Accident Commission Victoria 2016). It is clearly seen that people do not look like Graham at all and his appearance is actually terrifying. The speaker states that the only person who can survive a major car crash is Graham and if you don't look like him, be careful while driving.

Emotional Advertising Type #6: Guilt

Guilt is used by advertisers to evoke negative feelings and make people think about their actions. Guilt is a very uncomfortable feeling and it can provide a strong motivation to behave more responsibly in the future. The commercial "On your child's life" by Fire Kills makes people feel fear, sadness and guilt all together.

The advertisement starts with the footage of a little boy, walking alone in a house where the fire happened some time ago. The first thing he says is the following: "Last year in England, fifteen children died in house fires" (Fire Kills 2014). This

sentence already presupposes negative feedback since there is a word "death" which works as a trigger for sad feelings.

"Children like yours" (Fire Kills 2014) – the simile is used here to make people the participants of the events, to make them feel guilty about their actions.

The boy continues: "So parents, I'd like to make a promise. Repeat after me: "I swear on my child's life to test my smoke alarm on "Clock Change" day to give my family the best chance of surviving the house fire. You did promise, didn't you? Because you can't turn back time" (Fire Kills 2014).

He addresses the viewers directly making them take action at the moment they watch the advertisement. The tag question is utilized to seal the deal, the narrator clarifies one more time the action that needs to be taken.

Emotional Advertising Type #7: Interest

Interest is a positive emotion that causes certain curiosity in the depicted object or process. The advertisers often use interest as a leading emotion in the social advisements since it draws people's attention. "Fearless Girl" by State Street Global Advisors who won 2017 Cannes Lions "Glass/PR/Outdoor" Grand Prix is a great example.

This video is about the women in leadership and which hurdles they have to overcome over and over again. It starts with the sentence: "And the problem is this: women are not making it to the top of any profession anywhere is the world" (State Street Global Advisors 2017). Here the technique in medias res is used, as if the storytelling starts from the middle. It can be concluded that this issue was raised before and this commercial is just the continuation.

Then the author asks the question: "How do you promote the power of women?" (State Street Global Advisors 2017). They address the viewers directly making them think about their actions; as a result, the viewers become interested about this public service advertisements since they need to know about the measures taken to promote the power of women. The viewers can see the status of little girl

who looks straight and is not afraid of anything: "Wall Street, meet Fearless Girl" (State Street Global Advisors 2017). Actually, words such "boy" or "girl" are completely neutral and they only denote the differences in gender. However, in this commercial the word "girl" used together with "fearless" is emotionally charged and can be explained as a synonym of someone "powerful".

Emotional Advertising Type #8: Shame

Shame belongs to the negative emotions and it is often confused with guilt. The main difference is that probably a person who feels guilty will discuss their emotions, however it is much less likely that shame will be broadcasted in any way.

As a self-conscious emotion, shame is often associated with the feeling of inadequacy, distress, unworthiness, dishonor, mistrust, regret, or disconnection.

Are You Living an Insta Lie? Social Media Vs. Reality by Ditch the Label makes people feel ashamed for not being completely honest. The video is created using the tool of a chain reaction and the visual content complements the linguistic means used in the commercial.

The advertisement starts with the footage of a girl doing her make-up, then going back to bed and taking a picture with the hashtag #WokeUpLikeThis (Ditch the Label 2017). Actually, social media has become one of the greatest tools for communication in people's everyday life and texting or using only hashtags is very common among youth. The scene is also intensified with the same phase on the girl's shirt: Woke Up Like This.

The next person sees the photo, sitting in the car, however he goes to the files pretending he just rode a bike. The picture was posted with the following message: "30km ride bike done" (Ditch the Label 2017) even though it contradicts the reality.

The next girl posts the picture of an organized and clear desk at her office with the hashtags #cleardeskclearmind and #officemotivation (Ditch the Label 2017), while the other part of the desk is a complete mess.

It all ends with the first girl coming back home, taking picture with her boyfriend and posting it, writing "Awwww my man xxx" #relationshipsgoals (Ditch the Label 2017), meanwhile they were fighting.

The whole video is an oxymoron: everything the main characters do contradicts what they write in their social media. With the help of correct vocabulary and the right footage, this commercial makes people realize that the real life is more important that the social media life.

2.3 Pragmatic effects of emotional and emotive brand cultivation.

Nowadays, brand is a significant component in various areas of people's public life. Modern society is focused on mass consumption, but also on the priorities of the individual consumer. The brand is actively involved in shaping the valuable world and consumer preferences.

Modern consumers, making a purchase, take into consideration their emotional attitude to the product or brand. Branding embodies a special technology for creating symbolic associations and informal relationships based on consumer experience and trust, which expand the capabilities of relationship marketing. With the help of branding, manufacturers do not only inform consumers about the key values of their marketing offers, but also strive to make their business more sustainable by enlisting the support of loyal customers.

Malyishkina states that the brand today is not just a trademark that is created and promoted by the company, but an image that is generated in the human mind (Malyishkina 2014: 73). This image is created using mostly advertising. The brand is generated in the minds of people. All brands that are generated in the minds of each individual person belong exclusively to that person and no one else. The participation of companies is that they generate ideas and disseminate them, introducing them to specific people. They create goods for these ideas, organize the interaction of people and goods, provoking the generation of brands at the moments of this interaction.

Not one company in the world owns a single brand, they own only trademarks. The perception of the brand is accompanied by different sensations, pleasant or not pleasant or even neutral. Accordingly, if a company wants to have a brand, manage it effectively and receive bonuses from its use, then it should purposefully deal with it, and not expect everything to work out on its own.

In social advertising, reference to specific brands (models, articles) of goods, trademarks, service marks and brands is not allowed. But brands often use the social

advertising technique to appeal to the clients' senses and make them cooperate with their particular brand.

The pragmatic property of social advertisements is the realization of a certain intention of the addresser to influence the behavior of the addressee, his beliefs, the system of moral and spiritual values. The intention of the addresser is manifested in the desire to identify the essential features of the advertised product and to present them in the most effective way with the help of expressive, emotional and evaluative means with the necessary interpretation of the facts. The relationship of information, logic and emotion in social advertisement is reflected in the various strategies, tactics and techniques of the addresser (Romaniuk 2009: 152).

In advertising texts, information is represented in two ways – explicitly and implicitly. Explicit expression of information manifests itself in the semantics of the language sign and does not require decoding (Kyrychuk 1999: 4).

Implicit information is hidden, does not receive direct verbalization, and requires interpretation from the recipient's side. In order to achieve the communicative purpose of the addresser (to influence the addressee and to encourage action), the second method of transmitting information in the advertising text, that is implicit, is used more often. Implicit information is a means of manipulating the consciousness of the recipient, a means of implementing incentive strategies, positional and optimization strategies.

Emotional themes, imagery and music are excellent tools to trigger positive feelings that can be transferred to a product, company or brand. In the past few years, as brands have recognized the popularity of emotional content, more and more companies have focused on creating inspirational and moving ads.

One of such examples is the Nike's social advertainment "Dream Crazy" and "Dream Crazier". Popular athletes and sportsmen were featured in both commercials. "Dream Crazy" was narrated by Colin Kaepernick, it also features sports stars like Serena Williams and LeBron James, illustrating how athletes have defied

expectations to make seemingly insane dreams a reality. "Believe in something, even if it means sacrificing everything," Kaepernick says in the ad. In 2016, he started to kneel for the national anthem before the football games in protest at racial injustice in the United States. This decision put his own career at risk, however he kept on doing something he believed in.

"If people say your dreams are crazy, if they laugh at what you think you can do – good, stay that way, because what non-believers failed to understand is that calling a dream crazy is not an insult, it's a compliment" (Nike 2018). Here the speaker explains himself the contrastive meaning of the word "crazy": if someone calls you crazy it is rather a compliment. "Don't try to be the fastest runner in your school or the fastest in the world – be the fastest ever" (Nike 2018) – here we may notice the superlative form of comparison, however the speaker adds the emotional contrast to the utterance by using the additional explanation: "in your school, in the world, ever".

"If you're born a refugee don't let it stop you from playing soccer for the national team at age 16" (Nike 2018) – a word "refugee" here is used to make an emotional impact on the people's perception, so they would feel empathetic. "If you have only one hand don't just watch football – play at the highest level" (Nike 2018) – this sentence sets new standards for people: the expression "one hand" is utilized to feel compassion on the one hand, on the other hand people feel empowered. "So don't ask if your dreams are crazy, ask if they're crazy enough" (Nike 2018) – here is the emotionally charged word can be seen again "crazy", the people use it throughout the commercial to persuade the listeners that "crazy" is a positive characteristic.

It also should be mentioned that 2 types of sentences are used in this social public advertising: conditional and imperative. The speaker sets the condition and then provides the straight plan for action.

The viewers may experience the perlocutionary effect which is the effect a speech act has on a listener. The whole advertisement is a call for action. The speaker

tries to persuade the listeners to believe in themselves, to dream bigger. Such commercial could affect the listener's thoughts, emotions or even their physical actions and this was the main intention of the creators.

Another example of motivational social commercials, which emphasizes positive aspects of influential messages is a Nike's commercial "Dream Crazier". This company has released a mini-film about the female athletes who overcame barriers and inspired generations of sportsmen to chase after their dreams. Desperateness at fighting the stereotypes, immense courage to withstand the instilled images, call for breaking the old worldview on the women's social position – this is what this advertisement is about (Irkliienko 2019: 301).

"If we show emotion, we're called dramatic. If we want to play against men, we're nuts. And if we dream of equal opportunity, we're delusional," mentioned in Nike's ad. "When we stand for something, we're unhinged. When we're too good, there's something wrong with us. And if we get angry, we're hysterical, irrational, or just being crazy" (Nike 2019). The language of emotional appeal is used in this video, since this particular commercial was made to show the audience a great example of the behavior pattern they should look up to. The word "crazy" is constantly repeated to lay an emphatic stress on the stereotypes imposed. In this advertisement the word "crazy" acquires different connotation. It becomes rather positive, showing that "crazy" can mean "brave", "hard-working" and "persistent". What is more, the inclusive "we" is used to evoke the sense of commonality and make the audience the participants of the showed events (Irkliienko 2019: 301).

"But, a woman running a marathon is crazy. A woman boxing was crazy. A woman dunking – crazy. Coaching an NBA team – crazy. Or winning 23 grand slams, having a baby and then coming back for more. Crazy, crazy, crazy, crazy and crazy" (Nike 2019). Here the word crazy is overused to persuade people eventually that being "crazy" is ok, it means that people should follow their dreams, no matter what others say.

In addition, the imperative mood is implied in the sentences, for example: "So, if they want to call you crazy, fine. Show them what crazy can do" (Nike 2019). It should be mentioned that this particular sentence type provokes an emotional feedback from the audience and motives them to strive for better.

It is also essential to mention a commercial from Momondo. This tourist metasearch system has provided a video "Journey on the Trail of DNA" in which people from different countries learn about their true origin and their ancestors. Quite unexpected results do not leave indifferent both the study participants and many viewers.

They asked people from all over the world to take a DNA test and it turned out they have much more in common with other nationalities than they thought. It's easy to think there are more things dividing people than uniting them, however they actually have much more in common with other nationalities than they anticipate.

The commercial starts with the question: "Would you dare to question who you really are?" (Momondo 2016) is the example of illocutionary act: here the result of the implied request presented by the perlocutionary act. The implied illocutionary request here is "Get to know yourself, find out about your true origin".

A lot of people have provided different answers:

"I'm proud to be English, my family have served and we've defended this country and we've been to war for this country".

"I'm really patriotic about Bangladesh".

"I am 100% Icelandic, yeah, definitely".

"This is a Kurdish wedding, with my mum in the traditional Kurdish garb".

"We're just proud blacks, so that's it".

"Yeah, I think we are probably the best country in the world, if I'm honest" (Momondo 2016).

According to these sentences, the viewers can find out about different nationalities and the thoughts people have about themselves. It is worth mentioning

that every participant has to say only positive things about their country and they are completely sure that their nationality or country is the best which finally makes their positive comments sound with the negative tonality since they are unable to accept others.

"Think about other countries and other nationalities in the world are there any that you don't feel you get on with well, or you won't like, particularly?" (Momondo 2016). Here we may observe an example of the Face Threatening Act: the speaker asks for an explanation and when he demands something, he forces the participants to respond to his terms and that in itself, threatens their time and place. The participants are forced to comply with the needs of the speaker at the expense of their own. This is a negative face-threatening act that impedes the hearer's future freedom of choice or action.

"Germany, yeah, I'm not a fan of the Germans", "Particularly India and Pakistan probably because of the whole, you know, the conflict", "Cause I have this side of me that's like ... that hates Turkish people – not people! But the government!", "But French? Nah. We're just the best, you know, it's just fact", "I'm more important than you, I don't know you, but in my opinion I am strong, and I am more important than a lot of people" (Momondo 2016). Here we may observe the example of the emotional speech because the participants use informal language: cause (shorten from because), nah (regular no), also introductory words are used, for example "you know". It all makes their speech more vivid and lively. What is more, the sentence "I'm more important than you, I don't know you, but in my opinion I am strong, and I am more important than a lot of people" can be regarded as an example of illocutionary act: here the active result of the implied meaning presented by the locutionary act. The locutionary act is the sentence itself, the implied illocutionary meaning here: "you are not important and you do not matter".

"How would you feel about taking a journey based on your DNA? Do you know how DNA works? So you get half from mum, and half from dad, so 50% from

each of them, and they get 50% from their parents and back, and back and back. And all those little bits of your ancestor, they filter down to make you, you. I need you to spit in this tube for me. Right, the story of you, is in that tube. What's it going to tell me?" (Momondo 2016). Here we may observe the speaker to use the metaphor "taking a journey based on your DNA" implying at the possibility to find out about the participants' true origin. Also "the story of you, is in that tube" sounds like an oxymoron because it seems that it is not possible to place the story of a person in just 1 tube with their spit. What is more, the last question is rhetorical, since the answer is already understood – the participants will find out the results.

The answers of the participants were quite interesting: "It's going to be, 'oh yeah, you're French', and, 'wait, your grandparents are French', and, 'wait ...", "100% Bengali", "Solid Iraqi", "I'm Cuban!", "It's going to tell me that I'm English, like I've told you" (Momondo 2016). They all provided synonymous answers: you're French, 100% Bengali, Solid Iraqi, I'm Cuban, I'm English, which show their confidence and even though there is nothing bad about being sure about your origin, these sentences have some kind of negative connotation, since it sounds more presumptuous from their part, not leaving any place for doubts.

The reactions of the participants are very emotional and show different feedbacks: "Wow, look at me!", "Oh my God", "Oh ... wow", "I didn't expect that", "All of them", "Whoa!", "No ... No ...", "Caucasus? Which was ...Turkish?", "I'm 32% British? What?!", "5% ... German", "I'm Irish?", "So I'm a Muslim Jew", "Great Britain, 11% – are you sure these results are mine?" (Momondo 2016). People use different informal language to express their feelings, also the inversion is used and grammatisms can be seen as a prominent part of the emotional language.

"I'm going to go a bit far right now, but this should be compulsory. There would be no such thing as, like, extremism in the world, if people knew their heritage like that. Like, who would be stupid enough to think of such a thing as, like, a pure race?" (Momondo 2016). This abstract can be viewed as a perlocutionary act which

influences the perception of the listener to such an extent that they would consider this offer. The effect of the last sentence makes people question their believes. This organization has completed such an experiment to inspire people to travel more, to understand their heritage and be more open to the other cultures.

Continuing with the theme of family, there is the example of the advertisement of Duracell, where the brand uses positive emotions to appeal to the feelings of the audience. The setting takes place in the ordinary America family where the father serves the country and his wife and daughter are waiting for him. He makes a present for his daughter: a bear toy which says "I love you baby girl" (Duracell 2015) by the dad's voice. Once his daughter received the toy, she takes it with her everywhere: to the backyard, to bed, to the school. This sentence becomes some kind of mantra for a girl: she misses her dad a lot and tries to listen to his message as many times as possible.

It also acquires a different connotation here: "I love you baby girl" (Duracell 2015) here means not only love and care, however hope, sadness in some way and belief in the good ending. The commercial ends with the words "The ones you trust are always there" (Duracell 2015), referring to the parents and to the Duracell battery as well.

The advertisement by Gillette "Handle With Care: Gillette's New Assisted Shaving Razor" is also worth mentioning. In this video, an adult son tells how he takes care of his elderly father, who has recently had a stroke. The advertisement starts with the small talk between a father and a son:

- Good morning, sir. You ready to get up? I'm going to get your feet up. How are you doing today?
 - *OK* (Gillette 2017).

It is shown how the son treats his father in the very first sentence, he calls him "sir". In the United States, children call their fathers like that in order to show respect and obedience. Even if "sir" here sounds too formal and strict, it has a positive

connotation, since the son calls his father like that even after he basically became incapable to be in charge.

"So my dad had a stroke and now he can't get around. He can't walk. And he needs me to help him out. And my son Luke and I have been doing it. And I'd do anything, anything for him" (Gillette 2017). Here we may observe the repetition using synonymous words: "He can't get around. He can't walk" (Gillette 2017). It is completed in order to emphasize three fact that the son helps his father with everything since it is quite essential for the advertisement in general. The son gets emotional when he speaks about his dad and the fact that he repeats the word "anything" two times, makes his speech quite empathetic since people understand that this is the behavioral pattern they want to follow.

"There's a definite role reversal that happens. I have to wake him up in the morning and take care of him, groom him, and shave him and shower him. It's actually an honor to do that for your father, because he did it for me when I was a kid" (Gillette 2017). Here the enumeration is presented to draw people's attention to such common things as taking care of someone, however it sounds unusual since usually parents take care of their children. The son again shows his respect to his parent by saying: «it's actually an honor to do that for your father».

"My dad's got the greatest face. His squishy face is just amazing. He's sort of thin-skinned and I don't want to cut it at all. So I got to be careful with that face. But he'll just say, do this, do that. You got to make sure that you shave my neck down. You got to do my lips up. You know, he was really particular about his sideburns" (Gillette 2017). Here the role reversal happens since the son talks about his dad as if he is a child: "His squishy face is just amazin". He repeats the word «face» a lot in order to make an emphasis on this particular part of the body. This advertisement is about the razor, so this repetition is well-thought out.

Then, we may hear the dialogue between the father and the son:

− I'm not going to touch your sideburns.

- *− OK, good.*
- How am I doing so far, Dad?
- *OK* (Gillette 2017).

Here we may observe an example of the face-threatening act, since the son asks a question which presupposes the positive answer: he takes care of his dad and even if he was doing this routine in a not very good way, his dad would not be able to disagree since this is the only help he can get.

Then the son continues: "I'm one of the lucky ones. A lot of my friends my age do not have their dads. And I still have my dad. He always says to me – he looks up at me after I pour love on him for the whole day and he says, "I don't know what I did to deserve you". And I say, Dad, I got you. I got you, Dad" (Gillette 2017). Here we may notice the example of the emotional speech since the son's speach breaks, he makes pauses, uses grammatisms "He always says to me – he looks up at me". Also, the word "dad" is repeated which in this context can be treated as a synonym to the words "love", "respect" and "care".

The advertisement ends with the following sentneces: "In the past 100 years, over 4,000 razors have been designed to shave yourself. There have been 0 designed with the intent to shave someone else. Until now." We can observe antonyms here "In the past 100 years — until now", "4,000 razors - 0 designed" (Gillette 2017); they are used to make a great emphasis on the innovation presented by the company and to provoke the viewers to the emotional feedback.

Conclusions to Chapter Two

In the modern society, advertising is an integral part of everyday life, so a lot of researchers study it in many scientific disciplines. Advertising is an object of research in sociology, semiotics, psychology, political science, economic sciences, and literary studies.

Advertising is viewed as a phenomenon of mass communication and is defined as a set of measures aimed at achieving material (purchase) or ideal (change in the system of views) effects in order to form and satisfy the economic, informational and socio-political requests of a certain part of the society through various means of social connection.

A discursive approach to the analysis of advertising is the most valid because it allows to take into account a wide range of aspects of analysis – sociolinguistic, pragmatic, strategic, cognitive etc. However, the main aspect of the linguistic analysis of advertising discourse is the verbal aspect.

The concept of discourse can be defined an integral phenomenon, a mental-communicative activity, which is the totality of process and result and includes both the extralinguistic and the lingual aspect; in the latter in addition to the text, presupposition and context (social, pragmatic, cognitive) stand out which determine the choice of linguistic means.

Fundamental emotions and complex emotional states were singled out, which are a certain combination of fundamental emotions. Fundamental emotions include interest, joy, surprise, sadness, anger, disgust, contempt, fear, shame, embarrassment (shyness), and guilt and according to these emotions 7 advertising types were distinguished:

- Happiness and joy;
- Sadness;
- Fear:

- Anger and disgust;
- Guilt;
- Interest;
- Shame.

Emotive branding is a significant component in shaping the attitudinal patterns in various areas of people's public life. Modern society focuses on mass consumption, but also on the priorities of the individual consumer. The brand is actively involved in cultivating the valuable world and consumer preferences. Brands often use the social advertising technique to appeal to the clients' senses and make them cooperate with their particular brand and, therefore, the commercials of this type were analyzed.

GENERAL CONCLUSIONS

The linguistic aspect of the study of emotions is becoming more important and relevant nowadays as language is claimed to make a significant component not only of representing emotions but also of experiencing emotions. The linguoemotionology involves the analysis of emotions at different language levels to substantiate the provisions of the linguistics of emotions.

The emotive language involves linguistic means deliberately employed to excite, influence, and compel readers to emotional experience. The lexicalization of emotions is achieved through emotion nomination, emotion expression, and the description of emotion experience. One can express emotions and talk about them using nouns like joy, sadness, shame. Additionally, there are other parts of speech which also contain words that convey emotions, for instance verbs (to like, to hate, to fear) and adjectives (happy, fearless, sad, ashamed, and disappointed). Prepositions are also discussed, as they play a role in the relational (love for something) aspects of the conceptualization of emotions.

The distinction between emotivity and emotionality is highlighted since these categories have repeatedly become the subject of consideration in the linguistics of emotions. Though the categories of "emotionality and "emotivity" are closely interrelated, they are distinguished by their scope – psychological or linguistic. Emotionality is a spontaneous, unpredictable property of speech, and emotivity, on the contrary, is a predictable, conscious property of speech associated with the search for linguistic means that purposefully give it emotionality to influence the addressee.

Therefore, the emotional communication brings to the fore the expression of emotional states of the interlocutors, and in the emotive communication, on the contrary, a certain emotional state of the listeners is caused due to the use of the emotive language means.

Advertising is viewed as a phenomenon of mass communication and is defined as an act of influence that can more or less successfully influence the evaluative and

practical choices or remain indifferent; it is also a craft and, accordingly, its product can be judged to be a good job or a bad one. Social advertising dwells on the appeal to social feelings, employs the manipulation of values that may be acceptable to society, even progressive or ethically questionable.

A discursive approach to the analysis of advertising is the most valid because it allows taking into account a wide range of aspects of analysis – sociolinguistic, pragmatic, strategic, cognitive etc. This standpoint results from the understanding of the very concept of discourse that can be defined as an integral phenomenon, a mental-communicative activity, which is the totality of the process and result and includes both the extralinguistic and the lingual aspect.

The relationship of information, logic and emotion in social advertisement is reflected in the various strategies, tactics and techniques of the addresser. Fundamental and complex emotional states which include interest, joy, surprise, sadness, anger, disgust, contempt, fear, shame, embarrassment (shyness), and guilt help to create emotional effects in different commercials. According to these emotions 7 advertising types were distinguished: happiness and joy, sadness, fear, anger and disgust, guilt, interest, shame.

The study tested the assumption that the negative emotions are elicited to show the deplorable consequences if the offered behavior pattern is not utilized. The negative result could be shown through the unpleasantly stimulating message. Such words and phrases as "death", "terminal disease", "danger", "car crash" "rape" etc. are used to produce the negative effect and attract the attention of the audience.

It should be mentioned though, that the usage of positive emotions appeared more effective in social advertising. Positive emotions are utilized more often in order to encourage and entertain audiences and make the highlighted topic as attractive as possible. For instance, emphatic constructions are used in order to intensify the idea, giving it an emotive charge, e.g. "It is the safety belt that can keep you alive".

Finally, the pragmatic effect of emotional and emotive brand cultivation on the target audience were thoroughly analyzed. The pragmatic property of social advertisements is the realization of a certain intention of the addresser to influence the behavior of the addressee, his beliefs, the system of moral and spiritual values. The intention of the addresser is manifested in the desire to identify the essential features of the advertised product and to present them in the most effective way with the help of expressive, emotional and evaluative means with the necessary interpretation of the facts.

РЕЗЮМЕ

Емоції ϵ частиною життя кожної людини. У мовленні людина постійно стикається з емоціями, і саме завдяки ним мовлення ста ϵ емоційно-забарвленим, і слухачеві легко сприймати мовця.

Найпотужнішим способом висловлення ідей та емоцій ϵ мова. Лексикалізовані емоції не завжди відповідають тому, що насправді переживає мовець, тому, щоб правильно розпізнати будь-яку емоцію, потрібно звертати увагу не лише на вербальні, а й на невербальні засоби її вираження.

В іноземних мовах, зокрема в англійській мові, емоції виражаються порізному залежно від ситуації та самого мовця. У розмовному мовленні люди часто використовують одне й те саме слово для позначення різних переживань, так що його фактичне значення стає зрозумілим лише з контексту. При цьому одну і ту ж емоцію можна сформулювати по-різному.

Власне лінгвістичне вивчення емоцій передбачає аналіз емоцій на різних рівнях — на фонетичному, лексичному, фразеологічному та синтаксичному. На сьогодні, в лінгвоемотіології існує два терміни, що корелюють із почуттями та емоціями — «емоційність» та «емотивність». Емоційність — це спонтанна, непередбачувана властивість мови, а емотивність, навпаки, є передбачуваною, свідомою властивістю мови, пов'язаною з пошуком мовних засобів, які цілеспрямовано надають їй емоційного впливу на адресата. Таким чином, категорії «емоційність» та «емотивність» тісно взаємопов'язані і відрізняються лише сферою застосуання — психологією та лінгвістикою.

У нашому дослідженні ми досліджуємо сучасну англійську соціальну рекламу і звертаємо увагу на емоційний та емотивний компоненти, які впливають на сприйняття соціальної реклами.

Магістерська робота складається з вступу, двох розділів та висновків. Обсяг роботи 80 сторінок. Список використаних джерел – 198. У першому розділі роботи визначено роль мови у вираженні та переживанні емоцій, відокремлено поняття емоційності та емотивності, визначено основні відмінності між емоційним та емотивним дискурсами, досліджено основні засоби вербалізації емоцій.

У другому розділі визначено та охарактеризовано основні особливості рекламного дискурсу англійської соціальної реклами, визначено особливості та основні прийоми емоційної реклами, проаналізовано прагматичний вплив емоційного та емотивного культивування бренду на цільову аудиторію.

Ключові слова: емоції, емотивність, емоційність, рекламний дискурс, соціальна реклама, прагматичний ефект.

LIST OF REFERENCE MATERIALS

Achmanova, O., Mikael'an G. (Ed.). (1972). Syntax: Theory and Method. Ed. – M.: MGU.

Akulicheva, V.V. (2008). Gendernyie harakteristiki reklamnogo teksta: na materiale frantsuzskogo yazyika [Gender Characteristics of the Advertising Text: on the Material of the French Language] (Extended abstract of Candidate's thesis). Moscow. [in Russian].

Alefirenko, N.F. (2002). Protoverbalnoe porozhdenie kulturnyih kontseptov i ih frazeologicheskaya reprezenitatsiya. In *Filologicheskie nauki*, 5, p. 72-81. [in Russian].

Aleksandrova, V.H. (2006). Eliptychni konstruktsii v reklamnomu dyskursi. Abstract of paper '06: *Kohnityvno-prahmatychni doslidzhennia mov profesiinoho spilkuvannia* (pp. 57-60). Kharkiv. [in Ukrainian].

Andrianovna, Ye.K. (1991). Pragmaticheskaya napravlenost metakommunikativnykh elementov diskursa. In *Pragmaticheskaya intrepretatsiya i planirovanie diskursa*. Pyatigorsk: Pyatigorsk. gos. ped. in-t inostr. Yaz, p. 15-16. [in Russian].

Anikin, E.E. (2006). Taktika implitsitnogo sopostavleniya v reklamnom diskurse SShA. In *Politicheskaya lingvistika*, 20, p.175-179. [in Russian].

Anisimova, E.E. (2003). *Lingvistika teksta i mezhkulturnaya kommunikatsiya (na materiale kreolizirovannyih tekstov)*. Moscow: Izdatelskiy tsentr "Akademiya". [in Russian].

Anopina, O.V. (1997). Signalyi adresovannosti v angloyazyichnyih tekstah, reklamiruyuschih kosmetiku. In *Aktualni pytannia romano- hermanskoi filolohii*. *Doslidzhennia molodykh vchenykh*. Kveselevycha, D.I. (ed.). Zhytomyr: Polihrafika, p. 116-123. [in Russian].

Arndt, H., Janney, R. (1992). Intracultural Tact versus Intercultural Tact. In *Politeness in Language: Studies in its History, Theory and Practice*. Berlin, New York: Mouton de Gruyter, p. 21-41.

Arnold, I. V. (1959). *Leksikologiya sovremennogo angliyskogo yazi*ka. Moscow: Izdatel'stvo literatyra na inostrannyh jazykakh.[in Russian].

Artemenko, A.I. (2000). Funktsionuvannya pitan-perepitiv u movi. In *Naukoviy visnik* kafedri YuNYeSK KDLU. Mova, osvita, kultura: naukovi paradigmi i suchasniy svit. Filologiya. Pedagogika. Psikhologiya, 1, p. 114-117. [in Ukrainian].

Arutyunova, N.D. (1981). Faktor adresata. In *Izvestiya An SSSR*. *Seriya literatury i yazyka*, 40(4), p. 356-367. [in Russian].

Avdeenko, I.A. (2001). *Struktura i suggestivnyie svoystva verbalnyih sostavlyayuschih reklamnogo teksta* [The Structure and Suggestive Properties of the Verbal Components of the Advertising Text]: *(Candidate's thesis)*. Komsomolsk-na-Amure. [in Russian].

Babenko, L.G. (1989). *Leksicheskie sredstva oboznacheniya emotsiy v russkom yazyke*. Sverdlovsk: Izd-vo Uralskogo universiteta. [in Russian].

Bally, Sh. (1961). Frantsuzskaya stilistika. Moscow: Izd-vo in. lit-ry. [in Russian].

Bamberg, M. (1997). Language, concepts and emotions. In *The role of language in the construction of emotions. Language sciences*, 19(4), p. 309-340.

Barkova, L.A. (1983). *Pragmaticheskiy aspekt ispolzovaniya frazeologizmov v reklamnyih tekstah* [The Pragmatic Aspect of the Use of Phraseological Units in Advertising Texts] *(Extended abstract of Candidate's thesis)*. Moscow. [in Russian]. Barsalou, L.W. (2008). Grounded cognition. In *Annual Review of Psychology*, 59, p.

617-645.

Beketova, O.V. (1997). Struktura, semantika ta fnktsiï figur povtoru v

argumentativnikh tekstakh. In Visnik Kiïvsk. Derzh. Lingvitichnogo un-tu. Doslidzhennya molodikhvchenikh. Seriya Filologiya. Aktualni problemi vivchennya movi, movlennya i perekladu, 4, p. 17-23. [in Russian].

Belova, A.D. (1997). *Lingvisticheskie aspekty argumentats*ii. Kyiv: IIYa "Astreya". [in Russian].

Bezuhla, T.A. (2017). *Anhlo- i nimetskomovnyi reklamnyi dyskurs: polikodovyi linhvoprahmatychnyi pidkhid* [English and German Advertisement Discourse: Polycode Linguoprogmatic Appraoch] *(Candidate's thesis)*. Kharkiv. [in Ukrainian]. Biber, D., Johansson, S., Leech, G (Eds). (1999). *Longman Grammar of Spoken and Written English*. London: Longman.

Birenbaum, Ya. G. (1977). Emotsionalnost i eks pressivnost v prostranstve vodnosti. In *Vyrazhenie ekspressii v yazyke i rechi*, 107, p. 3-10. [in Russian].

Blackwood, A. *Skeleton Lake: an episode in camp*. Available at: http://ebooks.adelaide.edu.au/b/blackwood/algernon/empty-house/chapter10.html.

Bloem, A. (2012). (E)motion in the XVIIth century. A closer look at the changing semantics of the French verbs *émouvoir* and *mouvoir*. In: Ad Foolen et al. (Eds), *Moving Others. Motion and emotion in intersubjectivity, consciousness and language*. John Benjamins Publishing Company. p. 407-422.

Bolotov, V.I. (1986). *Problemy teorii emotsionalnogo vozdeystviy testa* [Problems and Theory of Emotional Influence] (Extended abstract of Candidate's thesis). Moscow. [in Russian].

Bolotov, V.I. (1986). *Problemy teorii emotsionalnogo vozdeystviy testa* [The Theory Problem of the Text Emotional Influence] (*Extended abstract of Candidate's thesis*). Moscow. [in Russian].

Boman, E. (2011). *Short cuts – Collected short stories*. Wandering Mind Press: Amazon Kindle Edition,. Bowen M. Florence Flannery. Available at: http://ebooks.adelaide.edu.au/b/bowen/marjorie/florence-flannery/

Bornyakova, I.V. (2007). Spetsifika yazyika reklamnyih soobscheniy i ih perevoda v ramkah mezhkulturnoy kommunikatsii (na materiale nemetskoy i russkoy zhurnalnoy reklamyi) [Specificity of the Advertising Messages Language and their Translation in the Framework of Intercultural Communication (Based on German and Russian Magazine Advertising)] (Extended abstract of Candidate's thesis). Moscow. [in Russian].

Braun, P., Levinson, S. (1978). Universals in Language Usage: Politeness phenomena. In *Questions and Politeness: Strategies in Social Interaction*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, p. 56-289.

Burke, M. (2002). How Emotive Is Cognitive Poetics? In *Proc. 21st Pala Conference*. *Textual Secrets. The Message of the Medium.* Budapest, p. 189-195

Buzarov, V.V. (2002). Izuchenie dialogicheskoy kommunikatsii – osnovnaya zadacha kommunikativnoy grammatiki. In *Vestnik Moskovsk. Un-ta. Filologiya*, 9(1), p. 148-152. [in Russian].

Bytsenko, T. and Shevchenko, I. (2003). The History of Expressives in the English Emotional Discourse. In *The USSE Messenger*. Kharkiv, Kyiv: Konstanta, 2, p. 46-55.

Collins, W. A. *Passage in the life of Perugino Potts*. Available at: http://ebooks.adelaide.edu.au/c/collins/wilkie/perugino-potts/

Collins, W. *Nine* o'clock Available at: http://ebooks.adelaide.edu.au/c/collins/wilkie/nine-oclock/.

Croft, W. (1993). Case marking and the semantics of mental verbs. In: J. Pustejovsky (Ed.), *Semantics and the Lexicon*. Dordrecht: Kluwer. p. 55-72.

Cuddon, J.A. (Ed.) (1982_. A *Dictionary of Literary Terms*. London: PenguinBooks. Damasio, A. (1994). *Descartes' error. Emotion, reason, and the human brain*. London: Picador.

Danes, F. (1987). Cognition and Emotion: A Preliminary Survey of the Field. In *Proceedings of the 14th International Congress of Linguists*. Berlin: Akademie-Verlag Berlin, p. 168-179.

Denisyuk, E.V. (2003). *Manipulyativnoe rechevoe vozdeystvie: kommunikativno-pragmaticheskiy aspekt* [Manipulative Speech Impact: Communicative-pragmatic Aspect] (Candidate's thesis). Ekaterinburg. [in Russian].

Derevyanko, A.R., Zyibin, O.S. (2012). Sotsialnaya reklama kak vid kommunikatsionnoy deyatelnosti v sovremennyih usloviyah. In *Sovremennyie*

issledovaniya nauchnyih problem, 7(15). Available at: https://cyberleninka.ru/article/n/sotsialnaya-reklama-kak-vid-kommunikatsionnoy-deyatelnosti-v-sovremennyh-usloviyah. [in Russian].

Devkin, V.D. (1981). *Dialog. Nemetskaya razgovornaya rech v sopostavlenii s russkoy*. Moscow: Vissh. Shkola. [in Russian].

Dodonov, B. I. (1975). Klassifikatsiya emotsiy pri issledovanii emotsionalnoy napryazhennosti lichnosti. In *Voprosy psikhologii*, 6, p. 21-33. [in Russian].

Domovets, O. S. (1999). Manipulyatsiya v reklamnom diskurse. In *Yazyikovaya lichnost: aspektyi lingvistiki i didaktiki*. Volgograd: Peremena. p. 61-65. [in Russian]. Donskaya, M.M. (2007). *Angliyskiy yazyik v multimediynom prostranstve reklamnogo diskursa* [English in the Multimedia Space of Advertising Discourse] (*Extended abstract of Candidate's thesis*). Moscow. [in Russian].

Dryu, Zh.-M. (2002). *Lomaya stereotipyi: Reklama, razrushayuschaya obscheprinyatoe* (D. Raevskoy, Trans.). – Saint Petersburg: Piter. [in Russian].

Duduchava, R.Ye. (1966). *Struktura nepolnosostavnykh predlozheniy angliyskoy dialogicheskoy rechi* [The Structure of Incomplete Sentences of English Dialogical Speech] *Extended abstract of Candidate's thesis*). Tbilisi. [in Russian].

Dzhefkins, F. (2001). *Reklama : praktychnyi posibnyk*. Kyiv : T-vo «Znannia», KOO. [in Ukrainian].

Eko, U. (1998). Otsutstvuyuschaya struktura. Vvedenie v semiologiyu. Pogonyaylo A.G., Reznik V.G. (Trans). Saint Petesburg: TOO TK «Petropolis». [in Russian].

Ellingsworth, H.W., Clevenger, T.J.R. (1967). *Speech and Social Action: a Strategy of Oral Communication*. Englewood Cliffs, New Jersey: Prentice-Hall.

Eyger, G.V. (2000). Motivatsionnyiy potentsial rechevyih aktov. In *VIsnik HarkIv*. *nats. unIver. imeni V.N. KarazIna*, 500, p. 10-17. [in Russian].

Fahnestock, J., Secor, M. (1982). Rhetoric of Argument. N.Y.: Random House.

Falikman, M. V. (2012). Kognitivnaia nauka v XXI veke: organizm, sotsium, kul'tura. *Psikhologicheskii zhurnal Mezhdunarodnogo universiteta prirody, obshchestva i cheloveka "Dubna"*, 3, p. 31-37. [In Russian].

Filimonova, O. Ye. (2001). *Katergoriya emotivnosti v angliyskom tekste (kognitivnyy i kommunikativnyy aspekty* [Category of Emotiveness in English text (Cognovive and Communicative aspect)] (*Extended abstract of Candidate's thesis*). Saint Petesberg. [in Russian].

Filosofskiy entsiklopedicheskiy slovar. (1983). Ilichev, L.F, Fedoseev, P.N., Kovalev, S.M., Panov V.G. (eds.). Moscow.

Foolen, A. (1997). The expressive function of language: towards a cognitive semantic approach. In: S. Niemeier & R. Dirven (Eds.), *The language of emotions*. Amsterdam: Benjamins. p. 15-31.

Foolen, A. (2012). The relevance of emotion for language and linguistics. In: Ad Foolen et al. (Eds), *Moving Others. Motion and emotion in intersubjectivity*, consciousness and language, John Benjamins Publishing Company, p. 349-368.

Frolova, I.Ye. (1998). Osobenosti vyrazheniya emotsiy v sintaksicheskikh strukturakh voprositelnogo tipa. In *Visnik Kharkivsk. Nats.un-tu im. V.N. Karazina*, 409, p. 212-220. [in Russian].

Fylymonova, O. E. (2001). *Katerhoryia emotyvnosty v anhlyiskom tekste (kohnytyvnyi y kommunykatyvnyi aspekty* [The Category of Emotionality in English Rext (Cognitive and Communicative Aspects] *(Extended abstract of Doctor's thesis)*. Saint Petersburg. [in Russian].

Galkina-Fedoruk, Ye. M. (1958). Ob ekspressivnosti i emotsionalnosti v yazyke. In *Sbornik statey po yazykoznaniyu*. Moscow. [in Russian]

Gamble, T., Gamble, M. (1987). Communication Works. N.Y.: Random House.

Gaponova, Yu.V. (2007). Sredstva vyirazheniya modalnyih znacheniy vozmozhnosti i neobhodimosti v tekstah pechatnoy reklamyi [Means of Expressing Modal Values of

the Possibility and Necessity for Print Advertising Texts] (Extended abstract of Candidate's thesis). Kaliningrad. [in Russian].

Gibbs Jr., R.W. (2002). Feeling Moved by Metaphor. In *Proc. 21st Pala Conference*. *Textual Secrets. The Message of the Medium*. Budapest, p. 13-28.

Gnezdilova, Ya.V. (2007). Emotsiinist ta emotyvnist suchasnoho anhlomovnoho dyskursu: strukturnyi, semantychnyi i prahmatychnyi aspekty [Emotionality and Emotivity of Modern English Discourse: Structural, Semantic and Pragmatic Aspects] (Candidate's thesis). Kyiv. [in Ukrainian].

Gordiienko Yu. (2014). Lexical Means of Expressing Emotional State in English. In *Naukovyi zhurnal*, 2, p. 59-67.

Gorlatov, A.M. (2015). Konstitutivnyie priemyi stilya reklamyi kak otrazhenie spetsificheskih ustanovok otpraviteley reklamnoy informatsii. Abstract of Papers '15: *Semantika i pragmatika yazyikovyih edinits* (pp. 34-38.). Minsk. [in Russian].

Grimak, L.P. (1999). Gipnoz reklamyi (anatomiya idealnoy formyi psihicheskoy agressii). In *Prikladnaya psihologiya*, 3, p. 83-91. [in Russian].

Hamziuk, M.V. (1999). Semantyko-kohnityvnyi aspkt pokaznykiv emotyvnosti anhlomovnoho khudozhnoho tekstu. In *Visnyk Kyivsk. Linhvistychnoho un-tu. Seriia*. *Filolohiia*, 2(1), p.104-115. [in Ukrainian].

Hardy, Th. *The Withered arm*. In *Wessex Tales*. Available at: http://ebooks.adelaide.edu.au/h/hardy/thomas/wessex/chapter3.html.

Hayakawa, S.I. (1973). *Language in Thought and Action*. London: George Allen and Unwin LTD.

Hlado, S.V. (1998). Syhnaly emotyvnosti khudozhnoho tekstu (na materiali suchasnykh anhlomovnykh opovidan). In *Visnyk Kyivsk. Derzh. Linhvistychnoho untu. Doslidzhennia molodykh vchenykh. Filolohiia. Problemy leksychnoi semantyky ta semantyky tekstu*, 6, p. 144-152. [in Ukrainian].

Hlado, S.V. (1999). Semantyko-kohnityvnyi aspekt pokaznykiv emotyvnosti anhlomovnoho khudozhnoho tekstu. In *Visnyk Kyivsk. linhvistychnoho un-tu. Seriia*. *Filolohiia*, 2(1), p. 104-115. [in Ukrainian].

Hlado, S.V. (2000). *Emotivost khudozhestvenogo teksta: semantiko-kognitivnyy aspekt (na materiale sovremennoy angloyazychnoy prozy)* [Emotive Fiction Text: Semantic and Cognitive Aspect (on a Material of Modern English Prose] *(Candidate's thesis)*. Kyiv. [in Russian].

Honcharova, N.V. (2002). *Aksiolohichna sturktura anhlomovnoho dialohichnoho dyskursu (na materiali khudozhnoi prozy)* [Axiological Structure of English Dialogue Discourse (on a Material of Book Prose)] *(Candidate's thesis)*. Kyiv. [in Ukrainian].

Hulak, T.V. (2005). *Tsinnisni struktury suchasnoho reklamnoho dyskursu (na materiali rosiiskoi komertsiinoi ta politychnoi reklamy)* [Value Structures of Contemporary Advertising Discourse (Based on Russian Commercial and Political Advertising)] (*Extended abstract of Candidate's thesis*). Kharkiv. [in Ukrainian].

Ilyin, Ye. P. (2001). *Emotsii i chuvstva*. Saint Petersburg: Piter. [in Russian].

Ilinova, E.Yu. (2013). Reklamnyiy diskurs: tsennosti, obrazyi, assotsiatsii. In *Reklamnyiy diskurs i reklamnyiy tekst*. Kolokoltseva, T.N. (ed.). Moscow: Flinta: Nauka, p. 38-56. [in Russian].

Imshinetskaya, I.Ya. (2004). *Kreativ v reklame*. Moscow: RIP-holding. [in Russian]. Irkliienko I. M. (2019) The language of emotional appeal in Modern English social Advertising. *Ad orbem per linguas*. *Do svity cherez movy*. Kyiv: Vyd. centr KNLU p. 300-302

Isakova, Ye.P. (1999). Reklamni teksty v erhonomichnomu aspekti. In *Naukovyi visnyk Chernivetskoho un-tu: Hermanska filolohiia*, 60, p. 150-161. [in Ukrainian]. Izard, K. E. (2006). *Psihologiya emotsiy*. Saint Petersburg: Piter. [in Russian] Jacobsen, E. (1979). Language and Emotions. In J. L. Mey (Eds). *Pragmalinguistics*. *Theory and Practice*. The Hague, Paris, New York: Mouton Publishers, p. 215-231.

Jing-Schmidt, Z. (2007). Negativity bias in language: a cognitive-affective model of emotive intensifiers. *Cognitive Linguistics* 18(3), p. 417-443.

Kaftandzhiev, H. (1995). *Tekstyi pechatnoy reklamyi*. Moscow: Smyisl. [in Russian]. Kaganovskaya, Ye.M. (1992). *Ironiya kak sredsto sozdaniya rechevoy ustanovki v khudozhestvennom tekste (na materiale proivedeni Marselya Eme)* [Irony as a Means of Creating Speech Installation in a Literary Text (Based on the Material by Marcel Aimee (*Extended abstract of Candidate's thesis*). Kyiv. [in Russian].

Karataeva L.V. (2003). Sopostavitelnyiy analiz reklamnoy leksiki v tekstah russkoy i nemetskoy pressyi (Funktsionalno-semanticheskiy i slovoobrazovatelnyiy aspekt) [Comparative Analysis of Advertising Vocabulary in the Texts of the Russian and German Press (Functional-semantic and Word-formation Aspect)] (Extended abstract of Candidate's thesis). Maykop. [in Russian].

Kochetova, L.A. (1999). *Lingvokulturnyie harakteristiki angliyskogo reklamnogo diskursa* [Linguistic and Cultural Characteristics of the English Advertising Discourse] (Extended abstract of Candidate's thesis). Volgograd. [in Russian].

Kohtev, N.N. (1997). Reklama: iskusstvo slova. Rekomendatsii dlya sostaviteley reklamnyih tekstov. Moscow: Izd-vo MGU. [in Russian].

Kolesnyk, D.M. (2007). Stratehii vplyvu na adresata reklamnoho dyskursu. In *Humanitarnyi visnyk. Seriia : Inozemna filolohiia*, 2(11), p. 70-74. [in Ukrainian].

Kondrashina, Ye. I. (1991). *Emotivnost v angliyskoy frazeologi*i [Emotivity in English Phraseology] (Extended abstract of Candidate's thesis). Moscow. [in Russian].

Korableva, E.A. (2008). *Ekspressivnyie sintaksicheskie sredstva sozdaniya* reklamnogo teksta na angliyskom yazyike [Expressive Syntactic Tools for Creating Advertising Text in English] (Candidate's thesis). Moscow. [in Russian].

Kositskaya, F.L. (2005). Pismenno-rechevyie zhanryi reklamnogo diskursa modyi v aspekte mezh'yazyikovoy kontrastivnosti (na materiale frantsuzskih i russkih katalogov modyi) [Written and Speech Genres of Fashion Advertising Discourse in

the Aspect of Interlanguage Contrast (Based on French and Russian Fashion Catalogs)] (Extended abstract of Candidate's thesis). Tomsk, 2005. [in Russian].

Kövecses, Z. (2000). *Metaphor and Emotion*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Kövecses, Z., Palmer, G.B., Dirven R. (2002). Language and Emotion: The Interplay of Conceptualisation with Phusiology and Culture. In *Metaphor and Metonymy in Comparison and Contrast*. Berlin, New York: Mouton de Gruyter, p. 133-159.

Kristal, D., (1980). Deyvi D. Silisticheskiy analiz. In *Novoe zarubezhnoy lingvistike*. *Lingvostilistika*, 9, p. 148-171. [in Russian].

Kulagina, I.V. (2011). Vozdeystvie tsveta v kreolizovannom reklamnom tekste. In *Sovremennyie nauchnyie issledovaniya i innovatsii*. Iyun. Available at: http://web.snauka.ru/issues/2011/06/737[in Russian].

Kunin, A. V. (1986). *Kurs frazeologii sovremennogo angliyskogo yazyka*. Moscow: Vyssh. Shk. [in Russian].

Kupryashkina, S.V. (1991). .Metarechevye sredstva organizatsii dialogicheskogo vzaimodeystviya. In *Pragmaticheskaya inerpretatsiya i planirovanie diskursa*. Pyatigorsk: Pyatigorsk. Gos. Ped. In-t inostr. yaz., p.58-59. [in Russian].

Kurikalova, N. M. (1985). Frazeologicheskaya nominatsiya yavleniy vnutrenney zhizni cheloveka (na materiale sovremennogo angliyskogo yazyka)[Phraseological Nomination of the Phenomena of aHuman Inner Life (Based on the Material of Modern English)] (Candidate's thesis). Kiev. [in Russian].

Kurlova, I. V. (1996). K izucheniyu glagolnykh sposobov vyrazheniya emotsionalnykh sostoyaniy. In *Slovar. Grammatika. Tekst.* Moscow, p.128-139. [in Russian].

Kyiak-Redkovych, L.T. (2011). Sotsioprahmatychni ta etnokulturni osoblyvosti vizualno zalezhnykh tekstiv maloi formy: (na materiali suchasnoi anhliiskoi movy) [Socio-pragmatic and Ethno-cultural Peculiarities of Visually Dependent Texts of

Small Form: (on the Material of Modern English)] (Extended abstract of Candidate's thesis). Kyiv. [in Ukrainian].

Kyrychuk, L.M. (1999). *Prahmasemantychni osoblyvosti katehorii otsinky v reklamnomu teksti (na materiali reklamy zhurnalu "Time")* [Pragmasemantic Features of the Rating Category in Advertising Text (Based on Time Magazine Advertising Material)] *(Extended abstract of Candidate's thesis)*. Lutsk. [in Ukrainian].

Landis, T. (2006). Emotional words: what's so different from just words? In *Cortex*, 42(6), p. 823-830. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0010-9452(08)70424-6

Lapina, V.V. (2014). Kontseptualni superechnosti sotsiolohichnykh teorii hlobalizatsii ta postmodernu v poiasnenni sotsialnoho vplyvu reklamy [Conceptual Contradictions of Sociological Theories of Globalization and Postmodernity in Explaining the Social Impact of Advertising] (Extended abstract of Candidate's thesis). Kyiv. [in Ukrainian].

Larina, T.V. (2003). *Kategoriya vezhlivosti v aspekte mezhkulturnoy kommunikatsii* (na materiale angliyskoy i russkoy kommunikativykh kultur) [Politebess Category in the Aspect of Intercultural Communication (Based on the Material of English and Russian Communicative Cultures)] (Doctor's thesis). Kyiv. [in Russian].

Lee, V., Beattie, G. (2000). Why Talking about Negative Emotional Experiences is Good for Your Health: A Microanalytic Perspective. In *Semiotica: Journal of the association for semiotic studies*, 130(1/2), p. 1-81.

Leontev, A.A. (2003). *Yazyik, rech, rechevaya deyatelnost*. Moscow: Editorial URSS [in Russian].

Levina, O.A. (1999). Reprezentatsiya emotsionalnykh sostoyaniy personazhey v angliyskom khudozhestvennom tekste (yazykovoy i kognitivnyy aspekty) [Representation of Emotional states of Characters in English Literary Text (Linguistic and Cognitive Aspects)] (Extended abstract of Candidate's thesis). Moscow. [in Russian].

Lindquist, K. (2009) Language is powerful. In *Emotion Review*, 1, p. 16-18. <u>DOI:</u> 10.1177/1754073908097177, p.16-18

Luk, A. N. (1972). Emotsii i chuvstva. Moscow: Znanie. [in Russian].

Lyon, M.L. (1996). Wright Mills Meets Prozac: the Relevance of 'Social Emotion' to the Sociology of Health and Illness. In *Health and the sociology of emotions*. Oxford, Cambridge: Blackwell Publishers, p. 55-78.

Mahnin, P.N. (2005). *Psiholingvisticheskie aspektyi vozdeystviya reklamnyih tekstov* [Psycholinguistic Aspects of the Impact of Advertising Texts] (*Extended abstract of Candidate's thesis*). Moscow. [in Russian].

Malyishenko, A.O. (2004). Gendernyie aspektyi angloyazyichnogo reklamnogo diskursa. In *VIsnik Harkiv. nats. univer. imeni V.N. Karazina*, 636. – p. 88-91. [in Russian].

Malyishkina, E. A. (2014). Istoriya brenda ili istoriya o brende, sotsialn. In *Ekonomicheskie yavleniya i protsessyi*, 3 (061), p. 72 Available at: https://cyberleninka.ru/article/n/istoriya-brenda-ili-istoriya-o-brende.[in Russian].

Malynenko, O. Ye. (2014). Osoblyvosti linhvistychnoi katehorizatsii emotsii. In *Nova filolohiia*, 62, p. 186-192. Available at: http://nbuv.gov.ua/UJRN/Novfil_2014_62_42 [in Ukrainian].

Marochkin, A.I. (1995). Emotsionalnaya leksika v molodezhnom zhargone. In *Yazyk i emotsii*. Volgograd: Peremena. p. 69-76. [in Russian].

Maslova, V. A. (2005). Kognitivnaya lingvsitka. Minsk: TetraSistems. [in Russian].

Maslova, V. A (1995). Nekotorye ontologicheskie aspekty emotivnosti teksta (1995). Emotsionalnaya leksika v molodezhnom zhargone. In *Yazyk i emotsii*. Volgograd: Peremena. p. 184-191. [in Russian].

Maslova, V.A. (1995). Nekotorye ontologicheskie aspekty emotivnosti teksta. In *Yazyk i emotsii*. Volgograd: Peremena, p. 184-191. [in Russian].

Medvedeva, E.V. (2003). Reklamnaya propaganda, ili «Pochem opium dlya naroda?». In *Vestnik MGU. Lingvistika i mezhkulturnaya kommunikatsiya*, 19 (1), p. 22-35. [in Russian].

Medvedeva, E.V. (2003). Reklamnyiy tekst kak perevodcheskaya problema In *Vestnik MGU. Lingvistika i mezhkulturnaya kommunikatsiya*, 19 (4), p. 22-44. [in Russian].

Melnikova, T.F., Kaschenko, E.G., Luzhnova, N.V., Mihaylova O.P. (2010). Effektivnost sotsialnoy reklamyi. In *Vestnik OGU*, 13(119)/, p. 61-67. Available at: https://cyberleninka.ru/article/n/effektivnost-sotsialnoy-reklamy. [in Russian].

Miall, D.S. (1989). Anticipating the Self: Toward a Personal Construct Model of Emotion. In *International Journal of Personal Construct Psychology*, 2, p. 185-198.

Mikhaylovskaya, V. N. (1966). *Nekotorye leksicheskie sredstva vyrazheniya emotsionalnosti v sovremennom angliyskom yazyke* [Some Lexical Means of Expressing Emotionality in Modern English] *(Extended abstract of Candidate's thesis)*. Leningrad. [in Russian].

Morokhovskiy, A.N., Vorobeva, O.P. Likhosherst, N.I., Timoshenko, Z.V. (1991). *Stilistika angliyskogo yazyka*. Kiev: Vyshcha shkola. [in Russian].

Nagornaya, E.V. (2003). Sootnoshenie eksplitsitnoy i implitsitnoy informatsii v reklamnom diskurse (na materiale angloyazyichnoy reklamyi) [Correlation of Explicit and Implicit Information in Advertising Discourse (Based on English Advertising)] (Extended abstract of Candidate's thesis). Moscow. [in Russian].

Nikitina, S.V. (1998). Natsionalnaya spetsifika teksta promyishlennoy reklamyi (na materiale russkoyazyichnyih i angloyazyichnyih periodicheskih izdaniy po vyichislitelnoy tehnike) [National Specifics of the Industrial Advertising Texts (Based on Russian and English Periodicals on Computer Technology)] (Extended abstract of Candidate's thesis). Voronezh. [in Russian].

Nushikyan, E.A. (1986). *Tipologiya intonatsii emotsionalnoy rechi*. Kiev-Odessa: Vyshcha shkola, p. 158. [in Russian].

Olyanich, A.V. (2013). Reklamnyiy diskurs i ego konstitutsionnyie priznaki. In *Reklamnyiy diskurs i reklamnyiy tekst*. Kolokoltseva, T.N. (ed.). Moscow: Flinta: Nauka, p. 10-37. [in Russian].

Ostroushko, N.A. (2003). *Problema rechevogo vozdeystviya v reklamnyih tekstah* [The Problem of Speech Influence in Advertising Texts] (*Extended abstract of Candidate's thesis*). Moscow. [in Russian].

Pavliuk, L.H. (2006) Aksiolohichni ta strukturni kharakterystyky dyskursu reklamy u mas media. In *Elektronna baza instytutu zhurnalistyky KNUTSh*. Available at: http://journlib.univ.kiev.ua/index.php?act=article&article=1460. [in Russian].

Pirogova, Yu. K. (2001). *Strategii kommunikativnogo vozdeystviya v reklame: opyit tipologizatsii*. Available at: http://www.dialog-21.ru/Archive/2001/volume1/1_31.htm. [in Russian].

Pocheptsov, G.G. (2001). *Teoriya kommunikatsii*. Moscow: Refl-buk, Kiev: Vakler. [in Russian].

Pokhodnya, S.I. (1984). Yazykovye *sredstva vyrazheniya ironii v angloyazychnoy khudozhetvennoy proze (na materiale angliyskoy i amerikanskoy khudozhestvennoy literatury kntsa 19-20 vekov)* [Linguistic Means of Expressing Irony in English Fiction (Based on English and American Fiction of the 19th-20th Centuries)] (Extended abstract of Candidate's thesis). Kiev. [in Russian].

Popova, E.S. (2002). Struktura manipulyativnogo vozdeystviya v reklamnom tekste. In *Izvestiya Uralskogo gos. un-ta*, 24, p. 276-288. [in Russian].

Prokofev, G.L. (1988). *Ironiya kak pragmatichiskiy komponent vyskazyvaniya* [Irony as a Pragmatic Component of Utterance] (Candidate's thesis). Kiev. [in Russian].

Radu, A.I. (2010). Ekolohiia freimovykh struktur i strukturno-kompozytsiina orhanizatsiia reklamnoho dyskursu. In V*isnyk Kharkiv. nats. univer. imeni V.N. Karazina*, 805, p. 62-67. [in Ukrainian].

Romaniuk, S.K. (2009). Prahmalinhvistychnyi aspekt reklamnoho dyskursu. In *Slovianskyi visnyk*, 8, p. 151-156. [in Ukrainian].

Romanov, A. A. (2010). Sotsialnaya reklama (problemyi i perspektivyi razvitiya). In *Ekonomika, Statistika i Informatika*, 6. p. 99-101. Available at: https://cyberleninka.ru/article/n/sotsialnaya-reklama-problemy-i-perspektivy-razvitiya. [in Russian].

Romanova, N.N., Fillipov A.V. (2001). *Stilistika i stili*. Moscow: MAKS Press. [in Russian].

Samarina, V.V. (2010). *Nemetskoyazyichnyiy reklamnyiy diskurs: pragmaticheskiy, kognitivnyiy i lingvostilisticheskiy analiz* [German Advertising Discourse: Pragmatic, Cognitive and Linguistic-stylistic Analysis] *(Extended abstract of Candidate's thesis)*. Harkov. [in Russian].

Sazhyna A.V. (2007). *Poetyka ta retseptyvno-zhanrolohichni resursy reklamnoho tekstu* [Poetics and Receptive-Genreological Resources of Advertising Text] (Extended abstract of Candidate's thesis). Ternopil. [in Ukrainian].

Scott, G.G. (2009). *Emotion word processing: evidence from electrophysiology, eye movement and decision making*. Dissertation thesis, University of Glasgow. Available at: http://theses.gla.ac.uk/823/1/2009scottphd.pdf

Sevidova, Yu.N. *Metod deskriptorov* – *kak sredstvo vyrazheniya emotsional- nosti v voprositelnykh i pobuditelnykh predlozheniyakh v angliyskom yazyke*. Available at: http://www.nauteh-journal.ru/index.php/ru/.

Sevidova, Yu.N. *Metod deskriptorov* – *kak sredstvo vyrazheniya emotsional- nosti v voprositelnykh i pobuditelnykh predlozheniyakh v angliyskom yazyke*. Available at: http://www.nauteh-journal.ru/index.php/ru/.

Shakhovskiy, V. I. (1987). *Kategorizatsiya emotsiy v leksiko-semanticheskoy sisteme yazyka*. Voronezh: Izd-vo Voronezh. [in Russian].

Shakhovskiy, V.I. (1983). *Emotivnyy komponent znacheniya i metody ego opisaniya*. Volgograd: Volgogradsk. Gos. Ped. In-t inostr. yaz. Im. A.S. Serafimovicha. [in Russian].

Shakhovskiy, V.I. (1995). O lingvistike emotsiy. In *Yazyk i emotsii*. Volgograd: Peremena, p. 3-15. [in Russian].

Shakhovskiy, V.I. (2002). Emotsionalnaya/emotivnaya kompetentsiya v mezhkulturnoy kommunikatsii (es li neemotsionalnye kontsepty). In *Aksiologicheskaya lingvistika: Problemy izucheniya kontseptov*. Volgograd: Kolledzh, p. 3-10. [in Russian].

Shakhovskiy, V.I., Zhura, V.V. (2002). Deyksis v sfere emotsionalnoy rechevoy deyatelnosti. In *Voprosy yazykoznaniy*, 5, p. 109-115. [in Russian].

Shestak, L.A. (2013). Life style: rechevyie strategii kommercheskoy reklamyi. In *Reklamnyiy diskurs i reklamnyiy tekst*. Kolokoltseva, T.N. (ed.). Moscow: Flinta: Nauka. [in Russian].

Shevchenko, I. S. (2005). Kohnityvno-komunikatyvna paradyhma i analiz dyskursu. In *Dyskurs yak kohnityvno-komunikatyvnyi fenomen*. Shevchenko, I. S. (ed.). Kharkiv: Konstanta, p. 9-20. [in Ukrainian].

Shido, K.V. (2002). *Reklamnyiy slogan kak osobyiy zhanr angliyskih reklamnyih tekstov* [Advertising Slogan as a Special Genre of English Advertising texts] (Extended abstract of Candidate's thesis). Saratov. [in Russian].

Shmelev, D. N. (1977). *Sovremennyy russkiy yazyk. Leksika*. Moscow: Prosveshchenie. [in Russian].

Sienicheva, O.A. Implitsitnoe vyirazhenie vnutrenney rechi v reklamnom diskurse. In *Nova filologiia*, 3 (23), p. 398-407. [in Russian].

Skuratovska, T.A. (2002). *Arhumentatsiia v amerykanskomu sudovomu dyskursi (na materiali sprav za uchastiu sudu pryszhnykh)* [Argumentation in the American Judicial Discourse (on the Material of Cases Involving the Court of Jurors)] (*Extended abstract of Candidate's thesis*). Kyiv. [in Ukrainian].

Sokolova, I.V. (1998). Realizatsiya povtorov v khudozhestvenykh proizvedeniyakh. In *Visnik Kharkivsk. Nats. Un-tu.im. V.N. Karazina*, 406, p. 189-192. [in Russian].

Sokolova, I.V. (2002). *Prahmatyko-komunikatyvni kharakterystyky povtoru v tekstakh-anonsakh* [Pragmatic and Communicative Characteristics of Repetition in the Announcements] *(Extended abstract of Candidate's thesis)*. Kharkiv. [in Ukrainian].

Tapio, N. (1992). Pure and Blended Emotion in the Human Face. Psychological experiments. Helsinki: Suomalainen Tiedeakatemia.

Tarasov, E.F. (1974). Sotsiolingvisticheskie problemyi teorii rechevoy kommunikatsii. In *Osnovyi teorii rechevoy deyatelnosti*. p. 255-73. [in Russian].

Teliya, V. N. (1986). Konnotativnyy aspekt semantiki nominativnykh edinits. Moscow: Nauka. [in Russian].

Tissari, H. (2010). English words for emotions and their metaphors. In: M. Winters et al. (Eds), *Historical cognitive linguistics*. Berlin: De Gruyter Mouton. p. 289-330.

Trollope, A. *The O'conors of castle Conor, County Mayo*. Available at: http://ebooks.adelaide.edu.au/t/trollope/anthony/tales/chapter2.html.

Trotsiuk, A.M. (1994). *Movlenievi mekhanizmy formuvannia emotyvnoho znachennia v emotyvno neitralnykh slovakh (na materiali suchasnoi anhl. movy)* [Speech Mechanisms of the Formation of Emotional Meaning of Emotionally Neutral Words (on the Material of Modern English)] *(Candidate's thesis)*. Kyiv. [in Ukrainian].

Urazaeva, N. R. (2002). Struktura molitvennykh tekstov (na materiale nemetskogo yazyka). In *Nauka-vuz-shkola Sbornik nauchnykh trudov molodykh issledovateley*, 7, 420-425. [in Russian].

Varii, M. Y. (2007). *Zahalna psykholohiia*: *Pidruchnyk*. Kyiv: Tsentr uchbovoi literatury [in Ukrainian].

Vaygla, E. A. (1977). Emotsionalnaya leksika sovremennogo russkogo yazyka i problemy ee perevoda (na russko- estonskom materiale) [The Emotional Vocabulary of the Modern Russian Language and the Problems of its Translation (on the Russian-Estonian Material)] (Candidate's thesis). Tartu. [in Russian].

Volkohon, N.L. (1999). Fonohrafichni ekspresyvni zasoby reklamnykh tekstiv ta yikh vidtvorennia v perekladi (na materiali ispanomovnykh reklamnykh tekstiv). *In Problemy semantyky slova, rechennia ta tekstu*, 2, p. 9-33. [in Ukrainian].

Volkova, V.V. (1999). Dizayn reklamyi. Rostov-na-Donu: Feniks. [in Russian].

Volodina, M.N. (2003). Yazyik SMI – osnovnoe sredstvo vozdeystviya na massovoe soznanie. In *Yazyik SMI kak ob'ekt mezhdistsiplinarnogo issledovaniya* Volodinoy, M.N. (ed.). Moscow: Izd-vo MGU. [in Russian].

Vornachev, A.O. (2009). Vzaiemodiia leksyko-semantychnoho, syntaksychnoho, fonetychnoho ta prahmatychnoho rivniv u tekstakh reklamy avtomobiliv (na materiali anhliiskoi movy) [Interaction of Lexical-semantic, Syntactic, Phonetic and Pragmatic Levels in Car Advertising Texts (in the English language)] (Extended abstract of Candidate's thesis). Chernivtsi. [in Ukrainian].

Voronenkova, G.F. (1999). Put dlinoy v pyat stoletiy: ot rukopisnogo listka do informatsionnogoobschestva. Natsionalnoe svoeobrazie sredstv massovoy informatsii v Germanii. Moscow: Yazyiki russkoy kulturyi. [in Russian].

Wierzbicka, A. (1978). Metatekst v tekste. In *Novoe v zarubezhnoy lingistike*, *Lingvistika teksta*, 9, p. 402-421. [in Russian].

Wierzbicka, A. (1996). Tolkovanie emotsionalnykh kontseptov. In *Yazyk. Kultura*, *Poznanie*. Moscpw: Russkie slovari. [in Russian].

Wierzbicka, A. (1999). *Emotions across languages and cultures. Diversity and universals*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Williams, S.J., Bendelow, G. (1996). Emotions, Health and Illness: the 'Missing Link' in Medical Sociology? In *Health and the Sociology of Emotions*. Oxford Cambridge: Blackwell Publishers, p. 25-53.

Winchmann, A. (2001). Spoken Parentheticals. In *Gothenburg Studies in English*. A Wealth of English: Studies in Honor of Goran Kjillmer. Goteborg, Sweden: Elanders Graphic Systems AB.

Yakobson, R. O. (1975). Lingvistika i poetika. In *Strukturalizm: «za» i «protiv».* – Moscow: Progress, p. 193-230. [in Russian].

Zadorizhna, N.I. (2008). Kombinatoryka prosodychnykh komponentiv v anhlomovnomu dyskursu radioreklamy. In *Linhvistyka XXI stolittia: novi doslidzhennia i perspektyvy*. Bielova, A.D. (ed.). Kyiv.: Lohos, – p. 113-123. [in Ukrainian].

Zazyikin, V.G. (1992). *Psihologiya v reklame*. Moscow: Datastrom. [in Russian].

Zelinska, O.I. (2002). *Linhvalna kharakterystyka ukrainskoho reklamnoho tekstu* [Lingual Characteristic of Ukrainian Advertising Text] (*Extended abstract of Candidate's thesis*). Kharkiv. [in Ukrainian].

Zernetskiy, P.V. (1992). Rechevoe *obshchenie na angliyskom yazyke* (Kommunikativno-funktsionalnyy aspekt dikursa). Kyiv: Lybid. [in Ukrainian].

Zolina, O.E. (2006). Sintaksicheskie sredstva yazyika i ih stilisticheskaya rol v reklamnyih tekstah [The Syntactic Language Means and Their Stylistic Role in Advertising Texts] (Extended abstract of Candidate's thesis). Moscow. [in Russian].

Zolotykh, T. I. (2017). Problemy vyrazheniya emotsiy cherez leksicheskie sredstva yazyka (na materiale nemetskogo yazyka). In *Voronezhskiy ekonomiko-pravovoy institu. Teritoriya nauki*, 3, 00-00. [in Russian]

LIST OF ILLUSTRATION MATERIALS

Ad Council. (2016). Love Has No Labels Diversity & Inclusion. Retrieved from: https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=PnDgZuGIhHs

Ad Council. (2018) Honest Yearbook, Bullying Prevention. Retrieved from: https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=behpcYR6WKI

Ad Council. (2018). End Family Fire. Gun Safety. Retrieved from: https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=63Ip-SrUoIQ

Ditch the Label. (2017). Are You Living an Insta Lie? Social Media Vs. Reality. Retrieved from: https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=0EFHbruKEmw &feature=youtu.be

Duracell. (2015). The Teddy Bear. Retrieved from: https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=qj4Z-dhZ2Z4

Fire Kills. (2014). On your child's life by Fire Kills. Retrieved from: https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=MKvKXGMDc5E&feature=share

Gillette. (2017) Handle With Care: Gillette's New Assisted Shaving Razor. Retrieved from: https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=WjjhcdcBkK4

Momondo. (2016). The DNA Journey. Retrieved from: https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=tyaEQEmt5ls

Nike. (2018). Dream Crazy. Retrieved from: https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=8QeBVJeivbI

Nike. (2019). Dream Crazier. Retrieved from: https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=whpJ19RJ4JY

State Street Global Advisors. (2017) Fearless Girl. Retrieved from: https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=fADyZ2NL-xY

Teleflora. (2015). Ryan's unforgettable Mother's Day delivery to Mom. Retrieved from: https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=j2zhVs1cUgU

Transport Accident Commission Victoria. (2016). Meet Graham, the only person to survive on our roads. Retrieved from: https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=0r9u7Rnnm0

Transport for London. (2013). Dead Man Talking. Retrieved from: https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=MKvKXGMDc5E&feature=share